
Page 1 of 3 
 

 

AGENDA | REGULAR TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 

October 24, 2023 at 6:00 PM 

Council Chambers - Apex Town Hall, 73 Hunter Street 
The meeting will adjourn when all business is concluded or 10:00 PM, whichever comes first 

Town Council and Administration 

Mayor: Jacques K. Gilbert | Mayor Pro Tempore: Audra Killingsworth 
Council Members: Brett D. Gantt; Terry Mahaffey; Edward Gray; Arno Zegerman 

Interim Town Manager: Shawn Purvis 
Assistant Town Managers: Demetria John and Marty Stone 
Town Clerk: Allen Coleman | Town Attorney: Laurie L. Hohe 

COMMENCEMENT 

Call to Order | Invocation | Pledge of Allegiance 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All Consent Agenda items are considered routine, to be enacted by one motion with the adoption of the Consent Agenda,  
and without discussion. If a Council Member requests discussion of an item, the item may be removed from the 

 Consent Agenda and considered separately. The Mayor will present the Consent Agenda 
 to be set prior to taking action on the following items: 

CN1 Annexation No. 770 – Legacy Station – 26.63 acres  

 Allen Coleman, Town Clerk  

CN2 Council Meeting Minutes – October 10, 2023 

 Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

CN3 Fee Schedule Amendments – Fiscal Year 2023-2024 

Amanda Grogan, Director, Budget and Performance Management Department  

CN4 Ordinance Amendment – Chapter 15 Parks and Recreation, Section 15-6 – Pleasant Park 

Hours of Operation 

Craig Setzer, Director, Parks, Recreation, and Cultural Resources Department   

PRESENTATIONS 

PR1 Proclamation – American Indian Heritage Month – November 2023 

 Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert 

PR2 Proclamation – Italian American Heritage Month – October 2023 

 Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert  



Page 2 of 3 
 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Mayor Gilbert will call for additional Agenda items from Council or Staff and set the  
Regular Meeting Agenda prior to Council actions. 

PUBLIC FORUM 

Public Forum allows the public an opportunity to address the Town Council.  The speaker is requested not to address items 
that appear as Public Hearings scheduled on the Regular Agenda.  The Mayor will recognize those who would like to speak at the  

appropriate time.  Large groups are asked to select a representative to speak for the entire group. 
Comments must be limited to 3 minutes to allow others the opportunity to speak. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

PH1 Transit Plan Map Amendment – Future GoApex Route 1 

Katie Schwing, Senior Planner – Long Range Transit, Planning Department 

PH2 Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments – October 2023 

Amanda Bunce, Current Planning Manager, Planning Department 

NEW BUSINESS 

NB1 GoApex Bus Stop Improvement Policy  

Katie Schwing, Senior Planner – Long Range Transit, Planning Department  

NB2 Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 5 - Article 1 - Section 5 - Automatic Fire Sprinkler 

System Requirements 

Councilmember Terry Mahaffey  

UPDATES BY TOWN MANAGER 

CLOSED SESSION 

Council will enter into closed session pursuant to: 

CS1 Demetria John, Assistant Town Manager, and  

 Steve Adams Utilities Acquisition Specialist  

NCGS §143-318.11(a)(5): 
“To establish, or to instruct the public body's staff or negotiating agents concerning the position to be 

taken by or on behalf of the public body in negotiating (i) the price and other material terms of a 
contract or proposed contract for the acquisition of real property by purchase, option, exchange, or 

lease; or (ii) the amount of compensation and other material terms of an employment contract or 
proposed employment contract.” 

 



Page 3 of 3 
 

ADJOURNMENT 



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: October 24, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Allen Coleman, Town Clerk 

Department(s): Town Clerk’s Office  

Requested Motion 

Motion to adopt a Resolution Directing the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition Received, to accept the 

Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk, and to adopt a Resolution setting the Date of a Public Hearing 

for November 14, 2023, on the Question of Annexation – Apex Town Council’s intent to annex 26.63 acres, 

Legacy Station, Satellite Annexation No. 770 into the Town Corporate Limits.  

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

The Town Clerk certifies to the investigation of said annexation. Adoption of the Resolution authorizes the 

Town Clerk to advertise said public hearing by electronic means and on the Town of Apex’s website.  

 

 

Attachments 

 CN1-A1: Resolution Directing the Town Clerk to Investigate Petition 
o Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerk 
o Resolution Setting Date of Public Hearing 

 CN1-A2: Legal Description – Satellite Annexation No. 770 
 CN1-A3: Aerial Map – Satellite Annexation No. 770 

 CN1-A4: Plat Map – Satellite Annexation No. 770 
 CN1-A5: Annexation Petition – Satellite Annexation No. 770 
 

 

 

- Page 4 -



    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE TOWN CLERK 

TO INVESTIGATE PETITION RECEIVED UNDER G.S.§ 160A-58.1 

 

Satellite Annexation Petition No. 770 

Legacy Station – 26.63 acres  

 

   WHEREAS, G.S. §160A- 58.2 provides that the sufficiency of the petition shall 

be investigated by the Town Clerk before further annexation proceedings may 

take place; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Apex deems it advisable to 

proceed in response to this request for annexation; 

 

   NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of 

Apex, that the Town Clerk is hereby directed to investigate the sufficiency of the 

above-described petition and to certify to the Town Council the result of his 

investigation. 

 

This the 24th day of October, 2023. 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Jacques K. Gilbert 

Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 

Town Clerk 

 

  

- Page 5 -



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SUFFICIENCY BY THE TOWN CLERK 

 

Satellite Annexation Petition No. 770 

Legacy Station – 26.63 acres  

 

 

 

 

To:     The Town Council of the Town of Apex, North Carolina 

 

    I, Allen L. Coleman, Town Clerk, do hereby certify that I have investigated the 

annexation petition attached hereto, and have found, as a fact, that said petition 

is signed by all owners of real property lying in the noncontiguous area described 

therein, in accordance with G.S.§ 160A-58.1(b), as amended. 

 

    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the 

Town of Apex, North Carolina this 24th day of October, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

                                                                      

________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 

Town Clerk 

    

 

 

 
         (Seal) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Page 6 -



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

ON THE QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S.§ 160A-58.2 AS AMENDED 

 

Satellite Annexation Petition No. 770 

Legacy Station – 26.63 acres  

 

WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of the non-contiguous area 

described herein has been received; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of Apex, North Carolina has by Resolution 

directed the Town Clerk to investigate the sufficiency thereof; and 

 

         WHEREAS, Certification by the Town Clerk as to the sufficiency of said petition 

has been made; 

 

      NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of Apex, 

North Carolina that: 

 

     Section 1.   A public hearing on the question of annexation of the area 

described herein will be held at the Apex Town Hall at 6 o’clock p.m. on the 14th day 

of November, 2023.  

 

      Section 2.   The area proposed for annexation is described as attached. 

 

      Section 3.   Notice of said public hearing shall be published on the Town of 

Apex Website, www.apexnc.org, Public Notice, at least ten (10) days prior to the date 

of said public hearing. 

 

     This the 24th day of October, 2023. 

 

 

                ________________________________________ 

              Jacques K. Gilbert, Mayor  

 

ATTEST:                        

 

 

__________________________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, Town Clerk 

 

 

Attachment: Legal Description 

- Page 7 -

http://www.apexnc.org/


Tract 1 Legal Description (PIN No. 0712949922) 

 

Beginning at a New Iron Pipe Located on the Southern Right of Way of US Hwy 64 and having North 

Carolina Grid Coordinates (NAD83, 2011), N: 725,205.14’, E: 2,019,726.21’; said Iron Pipe also being the 

Northwest corner of that parcel of land owned by Legacy Apex, LLC, Deed Book 19401, Page 999 and 

Book of Maps 2004, Page 1409, Wake County Registry.  Thence leaving said Right of Way, South 

43°21'40" East, 185.73’ to an Existing Iron Pipe, said pipe being the True Point and Place of Beginning, 

Thence North 82°57'52" East, 200.03' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 00°42'10" West, 199.45' to 

an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 82°49'09" West, 199.93' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 

00°39'15" East, 199.94' to an Existing Iron Pipe, the True Point and Place of Beginning and containing an 

area of 0.908 Acres (39,567 sf), more or less. 

 

 

 

Tract 2 Legal Description (PIN No. 0722041522) 

 

Beginning at a New Iron Pipe Located on the Southern Right of Way of US Hwy 64 and having North 

Carolina Grid Coordinates (NAD83, 2011), N: 725,205.14’, E: 2,019,726.21’; said Iron Pipe also being the 

Northwest corner of that parcel of land owned by Legacy Apex 2, LLC, Deed Book 19401, Page 999 and 

Book of Maps 2004, Page 1409, Wake County Registry.  Thence North 82°58'49" East, 828.63' to a New 

Iron Pipe, Thence South 01°36'41" West, 79.80' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 01°36'41" West, 

893.94' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 01°57'07" West, 417.11' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence 

South 76°25'00" West, 820.35' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°38'28" East, 465.54' to an 

Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°35'23" East, 74.24' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°39'29" 

East, 186.13' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 00°38'23" East, 755.82' to a New Iron Pipe, being the 

Point and Place of Beginning and containing an area of 26.627 Acres (1,159,991 sf), more or less. 

 

Save and Except the following area: 

Beginning at a New Iron Pipe Located on the Southern Right of Way of US Hwy 64 and having North 

Carolina Grid Coordinates (NAD83, 2011), N: 725,205.14’, E: 2,019,726.21’; said Iron Pipe also being the 

Northwest corner of that parcel of land owned by Legacy Apex 2, LLC, Deed Book 19401, Page 999 and 

Book of Maps 2004, Page 1409, Wake County Registry.  Thence leaving said Right of Way, South 

43°21'40" East, 185.73’ to an Existing Iron Pipe, said pipe being the True Point and Place of Beginning, 

Thence North 82°57'52" East, 200.03' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 00°42'10" West, 199.45' to 

an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence South 82°49'09" West, 199.93' to an Existing Iron Pipe, Thence North 

00°39'15" East, 199.94' to an Existing Iron Pipe, the True Point and Place of Beginning and containing an 

area of 0.908 Acres (39,567 sf), more or less. 

- Page 8 -



- Page 9 -



- Page 10 -



- Page 11 -



- Page 12 -



- Page 13 -



- Page 14 -



- Page 15 -



- Page 16 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: October 24, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Allen Coleman, Town Clerk  

Department(s): Town Clerks Office 

Requested Motion 

Motion to approve, as submitted or amended, Meeting Minutes from the following meeting:  

 October 10, 2023 – Regular Town Council Meeting Minutes  

 

Approval Recommended? 

The Town Clerk recommends the Town Council approve the meeting minutes as presented or amended.  

Item Details 

In accordance with 160A-72 of North Carolina General Statues (NCGS), the Governing Board has the legal 

duty to approve all minutes that are entered into the official journal of the Board’s proceedings.  

 

Attachments 

 CN2-A1: DRAFT Minutes – October 10, 2023 – Regular Town Council Meeting Minutes  

 

- Page 17 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 1 of 19 
 

TOWN OF APEX 1 
REGULAR TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 2 

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 3 
6:00 PM 4 

 5 
The Apex Town Council met for a Regular Town Council Meeting on Tuesday, October 10, 2023 at 6 
6:00 PM in the Council Chambers at Apex Town Hall, located at 73 Hunter Street in Apex, North 7 
Carolina. 8 
 9 
This meeting was open to the public.  Members of the public were able to attend this meeting in-10 
person or watch online via the livestream on the Town’s YouTube Channel. The recording of this 11 
meeting can be viewed here: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DgBzFUDPHKo 12 
 13 
[ATTENDANCE] 14 
 15 
Elected Body 16 
Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert (presiding)  17 
Mayor Pro Tempore Audra Killingsworth 18 
Councilmember Brett Gantt  19 
Councilmember Ed Gray  20 
Councilmember Arno Zegerman  21 
Councilmember Terry Mahaffey 22 
Absent: None 23 
 24 
Town Staff 25 
Interim Town Manager Shawn Purvis 26 
Assistant Town Manager Demetria John  27 
Assistant Town Manager Marty Stone 28 
Deputy Town Attorney Brian Meyer 29 
Town Clerk Allen Coleman  30 
Deputy Town Clerk Ashley Gentry 31 
All other staff members will be identified appropriately below 32 
 33 
 34 
 35 
 36 
 37 
 38 
 39 
 40 
 41 
 42 
 43 
 44 

- Page 18 -

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DgBzFUDPHKo


DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 2 of 19 
 

[COMMENCEMENT] 1 
[SLIDE 1] 2 

 3 
 4 
 Mayor Gilbert called the meeting to order, and said he was glad everyone was here. He then 5 
welcomed Sameer Ponkshe and others with the Apex Chapter of Hindu Swayamsevak Sangh, who 6 
presented the Mayor and Council with Rakhis.  7 
 Mr. Ponkshe said the Rakhis represented well-wishes to the person the Rakhis is tied around 8 
from the person who ties the bracelet. He said they were fortunate to be tying the Rakhis to the 9 
Mayor and Council, and they will be working to continue their community involvement with their 10 
support. 11 
 Mayor Gilbert then led those in attendance in a recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance.  12 
 13 
 14 
[CONSENT AGENDA] 15 
 16 
 A motion was made by Councilmember Zegerman, seconded by Mayor Pro Tempore 17 
Killingsworth, to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 18 
 19 
 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 20 

 21 

CN1 2023 Revised Town Council Meeting Calendar (REF: OTHER-2023-098) 22 
Council voted to amend the 2023 Town Council Meeting Calendar. 23 
CN2 Budget Ordinance Amendment No. 10 – Position Reclassifications (Building Inspections 24 

and Permitting and Community Development and Neighborhood Connections) (REF: 25 
ORD-2023-105) 26 

Council voted to adopt Budget Ordinance Amendment No.10 for position reclassifications in the 27 
Building Inspections and Permitting Department and the Community Development and 28 
Neighborhood Connections Department. 29 
CN3 Community Special Event Policy (REF: PLCY-2023-010) 30 
Council voted to approve Draft No. 25 of the Community Special Event Policy. 31 
CN4 Construction Contract Award – North American Pipeline Management Inc. – Sewer 32 

Rehabilitation Project – Lawrence Crossing Sewer Outfall Replacement and Capital 33 
Project Ordinance Amendment No. 2024-7 (REF: CONT-2023-291 and ORD-2023-106) 34 

- Page 19 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 3 of 19 
 

Council voted to award the construction contract with North American Pipeline Management, Inc., for 1 
Lawrence Crossing Sewer Outfall Placement Project, and adopt Capital Project Ordinance 2 
Amendment No. 2024-7 and to authorize the Interim Town Manager, or their designee, to execute the 3 
contract on behalf of the Town. 4 
CN5 Council Meeting Minutes – Various   5 
Council voted to approve, as submitted or amended, Meeting Minutes from the following meeting: 6 
September 19, 2023 – Work Session Meeting Minutes 7 
September 26, 2023 – Regular Town Council Meeting Minutes 8 
October 3, 2023 – Special Town Council Meeting Minutes – Appointed Personnel Evaluations 9 
CN6 Encroachment Agreement – 1822 Porch Swing Way, Lot 10 (REF: CONT-2023-292) 10 
Council voted to approve an encroachment agreement between the Town of Apex and property 11 
owner Lennar Carolinas, LLC to install a driveway that will encroach 28 square feet (SF) onto the 12 
Public Drainage Easement and authorize the Interim Town Manager, or their designee, to execute 13 
on behalf of the Town 14 
CN7 Encroachment Agreement – 1842 Porch Swing Way, Lot 18 (REF: CONT-2023-293) 15 
Council voted to approve an encroachment agreement between the Town of Apex and property 16 
owner Lennar Carolinas, LLC to install a driveway that will encroach 18 square feet (SF) onto the 17 
Public Drainage Easement and authorize the Interim Town Manager, or their designee, to execute 18 
on behalf of the Town. 19 
CN8 Human Resources (HR) Policy Updates – Town’s Paid Parental Leave, Paid Caregiver 20 

Leave, and Tuition Reimbursement (REF: PLCY-2023-011) 21 
Council voted to approve updates to the Town’s Paid Parental Leave, Paid Caregiver Leave, and 22 
Tuition Reimbursement personnel policies. 23 
CN9 Tax Report – August 2023 (REF: OTHER-2023-100) 24 
Council voted to approve the Wake County Tax Administration Tax Report for the Town of Apex 25 
dated September 10, 2023. 26 
CN10 Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments – Statement – Sept. 2023 (REF: 27 

OTHER-2023-101 and OTHER-2023-102) 28 
Council voted to approve the Statement(s) of the Apex Town Council pursuant to G.S. 160D-605(a) 29 
addressing action on the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments (Items 1 & 3-6) and 30 
(Item 2) on September 26, 2023. 31 
 32 

[PRESENTATIONS] 33 

 34 

PR1 Proclamation – Fire Prevention Week – October 8, 2023 through October 14, 2023 35 
(REF: PRO-2023-030) 36 

 Mayor Gilbert, along with the rest of Council, read the Fire Prevention Week 2023 37 
proclamation in unity. 38 
 Fire Chief Tim Herman, and other members of the Apex Fire Department, were present to 39 
receive the proclamation. 40 
 41 
PR2 ADDED – Proclamation – Down Syndrome Awareness Month – October 2023 (REF: PRO-42 

2023-031) 43 

- Page 20 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 4 of 19 
 

 Mayor Gilbert, along with the rest of Town Council, read the Down Syndrome Awareness 1 
Month 2023 proclamation in unity. 2 
 Cheryl Byrne and several Apex community members, accepted the proclamation. 3 
 Ms. Byrne thanked the Mayor, Town Council, and Town Clerk Coleman, as well as thanks to 4 
people she will be meeting in the future. She said their good are good days and bad days in taking 5 
care of children, but today is a great day for her and all of them. She said she was very happy she 6 
moved to Apex, and that it is a great place for her family and for her child with special needs.  7 
 8 
[REGULAR MEETING AGENDA] 9 
 10 
 A motion was made by Councilmember Gantt, seconded by Councilmember Gray, to 11 
approve the Regular Meeting Agenda as presented. 12 
 13 
 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 14 
 15 
[PUBLIC FORUM] (NOTE: To view Public Forum and Public Hearing sign in sheets, please see OTHER-16 
2023-103) 17 
[SLIDE 2] 18 

 19 
 20 
 First to speak was Martha Geer of 3729 Bosco Road: 21 
 22 
“Good evening and thank you for allowing me to speak. Mr. Mahaffey, one of your signs is posted at 23 
the end of Bosco Road right now. There are none of your signs a couple miles to the south or a couple 24 
miles to the north. Some think it’s a “thumb in your nose” move, I prefer it to be “I hear you, and you 25 
can believe in my platform, I’m extending trust, transparency, and trees to Apex’s planning 26 
jurisdiction.” Trust, on your platform you say, citizens need advocates. Is that including us? With DOT 27 
and Duke Energy, some people think it does. Transparency, are you going to be open and honest 28 
with us about what the plans are and why for the force main project and basically anything that 29 
happens in the planning jurisdiction. Trees, are you going to do what you can to protect our trees too? 30 
And I want to talk about Rick and Jeannie Stone. The current force main plan is to take their trees, that 31 
shield them from US 1. Rick is a retired detective with the Wake County Sheriff’s Department, Drug 32 

- Page 21 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 5 of 19 
 

Division, DEA, he put his life on the line, literally. With the exception of perhaps the Mayor, none of 1 
you did. This is their retirement farm. You’re stripping out their trees without considering other 2 
options, some of you are not considering other options. So that gets me to politics. Rick and Jeannie, 3 
bless them, are die-hard Democrats. You all probably think there aren’t any political consequences to 4 
the force main plan, and the things that are done in the planning jurisdiction, because you’re elected 5 
in Apex, that’s a Democrat stronghold, you’re naïve. Mr. Mahaffey, I think you got elected last time by 6 
under 4,000 votes. I got elected in a horrible year for Democrats by more than a million votes. I was 7 
the only Democrat to win statewide, I was the only Democrat to win Wake County, among other 8 
counties. And what happened that year is the public decided Democrats don’t care about them, so 9 
they voted Republican, including Democrats. They went right down the line on the Republican side, 10 
they crossed over for me. I won’t bore you with why they believed in me, but I will say that 8 years later, 11 
in another horrible year for Democrats, I won by 20 points. And part of it was because I married a 12 
dynamite political strategist, but I also learned that people, what they told me, is that people cared 13 
what I stood for and the fact that I did what I stood for. So for you, all of you, in 2024 and 2025, people 14 
may not remember the names of any of you, but they will remember that you were Democrats, and 15 
you didn’t care about them outside of the Town of Apex, and they’re going to spread the word. So the 16 
consequences are the people that will get especially burned politically because of what you do will 17 
be the people running in 2024. Like legislators, how many votes will you deliver to these folks to make 18 
up for the votes that you’re going to cost them? They’re going to need those votes, votes they had two 19 
years ago, it’s real. I’ve seen it. You haven’t. All you have to do is what Mr. Mahaffey’s platform says, 20 
Mr. Mahaffey if you’ll do that and if everybody else here does that, then we may be okay. Thank you.” 21 
 22 
 Mayor Gilbert thanked Ms. Geer for her comments.  23 
 24 

Next to speak was Dawn Cozzalino of 3632 Bosco Road: 25 
 26 
“So this is the development plan that’s on Apex’s website, it’s even more sprawl coming in the heat 27 
map. And why is that important to my topic tonight, because we love where we live, and this impacts 28 
where we live. This is the beauty of Friendship and New Hill communities. So I was interested in 29 
transportation and accidents and things that kill or hurt or damage people’s property and cause them 30 
physical or economic harm. So I thought, we’re a densely developing area, so why don’t I compare 31 
our traffic information to that of the State of New Jersey. Okay, so that’s a densely populated state. 32 
The whole state of New Jersey is 9.2 million people, this Town of Apex is 71,000. Now square miles, 33 
we’re less than a percent of New Jersey, population we’re less than a percent of New Jersey, one 34 
percent. However accidents, 291% higher than the entire state of New Jersey. That’s a very disturbing, 35 
alarming statistic, because it continues to go up. The whole state of New Jersey has 650 accidents, 36 
and there 1,894, I mean you can do the math on the statistics all you want, but the more and more cars 37 
that come in that corridor, the more than number is going to jack up. So what the heck are you guys 38 
going to do about it? Because inviting more development is not going to help the problem, it’s going 39 
to make conditions here dangerous. Not only that, the tree canopy that was mentioned. The 40 
unincorporated area gave you your good numbers, okay. So you forget about that when you do the 41 
report, oh 540 and all this. No, we were the ones that gave you the good healthy tree numbers, and 42 
by the way you can’t just plant trees anywhere you want, because they won’t grow healthy. The ones 43 
you should be doing is saving the ones we have today. And then lastly, so this was an accident on 44 

- Page 22 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 6 of 19 
 

Bosco Road, just a couple of weeks ago, 3-car crash, okay, this shouldn’t be happening. Because 1 
people are flooring it all over the place, and you know the town’s Holly Spring, Chatham I see them 2 
you know there’s just log trucks going all over the highways which is just saddening to me. Those 3 
developments are happening in Chatham, so it’s getting squeezed, and squeezed, and squeezed. 4 
Okay and vehicles are the only ways to commute in this area, there is nothing else. Thank you.” 5 
 6 
 Mayor Gilbert thanked Ms. Cozzalino for her comments.  7 
 8 
Next to speak was Elizabeth Stitt of 3113 Friendship Road: 9 
 10 
 “Mayor, Town Council, good evening. At the last Town Council meeting there was discussion 11 
about increasing the Resource Conservation Area to 50% with the opportunity for developers to 12 
reduce that requirement by offering solar. And in that conversation, there was a statement made that 13 
you can’t have solar with trees. I guess presumably because the trees are going to throw shade on 14 
solar panels on people’s roofs. So I am here to debunk that myth. It’s really important that you know 15 
that we can have trees in the same place where there are solar panels. Case in point, if you look at 16 
pages 8-10 of the Apex Design and Development Manual put together, you will see there are 66 17 
species of trees that max out at a mature height of 30 feet. So what does that mean? So if you are a 1-18 
story house with the average roof line at 15 feet with solar panels, there is 15 trees on there that you 19 
could plant that would never throw shade on the roof. If you are a 2-story house with a roof line of 25 20 
feet, there are 65 trees on this list that would not throw shade on your house. And if you’re a 3-story 21 
townhouse, which we’re building a lot of in town, none of these trees will grow tall enough to hit solar 22 
panels on top. So, when we talk about good public policy, it’s important to understand that tree 23 
strategy and solar strategy both can occur in the same place, and so while we definitely need to 24 
increase the RCA, it should not be coupled with solar. It should be paired with solar to say you need 25 
to do both if you’re going to go down that road, and never to say we can’t have trees with solar. When 26 
you say that, you’re repeating a myth that the arbor society, a lot of us tree lovers, we all just kind of 27 
cringe at it because it’s like do you really understand your trees. If you do, you know there is plenty of 28 
options for shorter trees. Yes, they’re never going to be telephone poles, but they’re equally valuable. 29 
And the one thing that I really love about what the staff has done on this report, is if you look on the 30 
far right, it talks about late flowers, early flowers, bird friendly, pollinator friendly, all the things that it 31 
brings to our communities in addition to providing some shade. So as you drive through some of 32 
these neighborhoods, I know you may not have approved all of these original plans, but when you’re 33 
looking at planting trees, understand we can do this in addition to solar. Thank you. 34 
 35 
 Mayor Gilbert thanked Ms. Stitt for her comments. With no further sign ups, he closed Public 36 
Forums and moved the meeting on to Public Hearings. 37 
 38 
[PUBLIC HEARING] 39 
 40 
PH1 Thoroughfare and Collector Street Plan Map Amendment - Schieffelin Road Upgrade 41 

 42 
Jenna Shouse, Senior Long-Range Planner, gave the following presentation regarding the 43 

Thoroughfare and Collector Street Plan Amendment – Schieffelin Road Upgrade. 44 

- Page 23 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 7 of 19 
 

[SLIDE 3] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 4] 3 

 4 
 5 
  Councilmember Mahaffey said he was surprised this was a Minor Collector before, since 6 
there was a call for a grade-separated crossing at this intersection.  7 
 Ms. Shouse said that is what made it jump out, and it made sense to extend bike lanes as 8 
well.  9 
 Councilmember Zegerman asked if there were no plans for the grade-separated crossing 10 
there yet. 11 
 Ms. Shouse said that was correct, there was no funded project.  12 
 Councilmember Gantt said if that ever happens, there would likely be less cars than there 13 
are today because the Peakway would take some of the traffic. He asked if the major collector would 14 
be undone if the Schieffelin/US 1 overpass never happens.  15 
 Ms. Shouse said that was a good question. She said it would be needed if they wanted bike 16 
lanes and didn’t want residential driveways. She said they are planning ahead in case the overpass is 17 
funded. She said they would have to see how things play out to determine if they would revert it in 18 
that case.  19 
 Councilmember Mahaffey wanted to clarify that none of this was currently funded. 20 

- Page 24 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 8 of 19 
 

 Ms. Shouse said that was correct.  1 
 Councilmember Gantt said the Peakway would likely happen decades before the 2 
intersection happened.  3 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said DOT could eventually build it. 4 
 Councilmember Gantt said maybe, but he was skeptical. 5 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said maybe if they had a project for US 1.  6 
 7 
 Mayor Gilbert opened public hearing for this item. With no one signed up, he closed public 8 
hearing and moved discussion back to Council.  9 
 10 
 A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth, seconded by Councilmember 11 
Gantt, to approve the Thoroughfare and Collector Street Plan Map Amendment - Schieffelin Road 12 
Upgrade. 13 
 14 
 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 15 
 16 
 17 

 18 

PH2 Bicycle and Pedestrian System Plan Map Amendment - Bicycle Lanes on Major 19 

Collectors 20 

Ms. Shouse gave the following presentation regarding the Bicycle and Pedestrian System 21 
Plan Map Amendment – Bicycle Lanes on Major Collectors.  22 
[SLIDE 5] 23 

 24 
 25 
 26 
 27 
 28 
 29 
 30 
 31 

- Page 25 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 9 of 19 
 

[SLIDE 6] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 7] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 8] 5 

 6 
 7 
 8 

- Page 26 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 10 of 19 
 

[SLIDE 9] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 10] 3 

 4 
 5 
Councilmember Gantt asked if the public comment was opposing the amendments, or 6 

asking to delay until the study was done. 7 
Ms. Shouse said the person who gave the public comments was going to speak tonight, but 8 

her understanding was that the recommendation was to hold off on these, after a public meeting 9 
with a draft plan early next year. She said it didn’t seem like the recommendation was to remove 10 
them, but rather to look at them holistically as part of the small area plan.  11 

Councilmember Gantt asked if there was a risk to not getting bike lanes by delaying this. 12 
Ms. Shouse said if there was a development proposed along these roadways in the 13 

meantime, the town could require bicycle lanes, but the there could be a transportation plan 14 
amendment associated with that development, but it would be a request at that point.  15 

Planning Director Dianne Khin said it was discussed at Planning Board about making it a 16 
zoning condition. She said they could ask for that, and if they didn’t want to do it then staff would not 17 
support it. She said there isn’t anything out there at this time because of the lack of sewer.  18 

Councilmember Gantt asked if planning would suggest developers not to submit anything 19 
until the big branch study was done.  20 

- Page 27 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 11 of 19 
 

Director Khin said there are a few people who want to submit and may submit before that 1 
time, but they are aware and have attended the open houses.  2 

Councilmember Zegerman asked if the proposal as it stands was just striping off the four-3 
foot lanes. He asked if on major collector if it would just be striping used to create a bike lane.  4 

Ms. Shouse said the plan is to add bike lanes along all those roadways. She said there was 5 
no currently funded project to expand the roadway to a major collector standard. 6 

Councilmember Zegerman asked if there was any consideration given to physically 7 
separating bike lanes from motorists.  8 

Ms. Shouse said with current standard it would be a tight fit, but they have discussed along 9 
thoroughfares having a buffer or some separation. She said they could look at that more closely in 10 
design process, but with the current collector street design, it would only be striping.  11 

Councilmember Zegerman said he was referring to more new roads having the physical 12 
separation, and that is very common in other places in the world. He said that could be a safer 13 
solution overall. He said it may widen the road, but they may could do some tree separations in 14 
those areas as well.  15 

Councilmember Mahaffey said any physical separation was good. He said the proposal is to 16 
update the Major Collector Street design, and asked if that was something that they could do. 17 

Chris Johnson, Director of Transportation and Infrastructure Development, said major 18 
collectors here would typically be speed limits of 25-35 miles per hour maximum, and lots of times 19 
they do separated facilities on major thoroughfares, and the industry standard for the speed limit of 20 
these collectors would be the limit of where striped bike lanes would still be.  21 

Councilmember Gantt asked to clarify if there were existing or planned side paths on many 22 
of the town’s thoroughfares. 23 

Ms. Shouse said that was correct. 24 
Councilmember Zegerman said he thinks there is some middle ground between a major 25 

collector and a thoroughfare. He said with new roads, they could start separating different modes of 26 
traffic. He said he was for this amendment, he is just asking for more with future roadway designs.  27 

Councilmember Mahaffey said this is in response to something they asked staff to look at a 28 
month ago, and they already put this together and are bringing it to them.  29 

Ms. Shouse said they started it earlier this summer.  30 
Councilmember Mahaffey asked if they should be asking for an initial right of way 31 

dedication for minor collectors, in case they found it necessary in the future to add bike lanes.  32 
Ms. Shouse said the right of way requirement was the same for major and minor collectors, 33 

both 60 feet, the roadway width is what differs.  34 
Councilmember Mahaffey said they would probably be upset if they increased the 35 

pavement width, because there would be no difference in a minor and major collector then. He 36 
asked if the town got right of way on a minor collector, if they could come in and add pavement as a 37 
project.  38 

Councilmember Zegerman said for major collectors the town has sidewalks on both sides, 39 
so for a minor collector there could still be a separated bike lane, with both directions on one side of 40 
the road.  41 

Councilmember Mahaffey said he thought there were minor collectors on both sides of the 42 
road as well.  43 

- Page 28 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 12 of 19 
 

Ms. Shouse said they do, and it’s a narrower utility strip on the major collector, since it is a 1 
wider roadway.  2 

Councilmember Mahaffey asked what it would look like to implement some of these things. 3 
He said they were likely relatively cheap compared to some other projects. He asked if there was a 4 
plan to identify the highest usage areas for bicyclists. He also asked if they didn’t do it proactively, 5 
would the next time be when the road was re-paved in the next 15-20 years.  6 

Councilmember Gantt said there was a South Salem bike way on the CIP that costs more 7 
than he thinks it should. 8 

Councilmember Mahaffey said he doesn’t understand that either. He said some of these 9 
were just re-striping and it wouldn’t be a big deal. 10 

Director Johnson said they could do this through a resurfacing program if it would be safe 11 
to add them, as some neighborhoods with major collectors already have the edge lines in place, 12 
they just do not have the bicycle symbols. He said the minor collector streets are narrower, and in 13 
most of those situations there would either be no bike accommodations, or they would just be 14 
sharing the road. He said all of these roads were 25 miles-per-hour.   15 

Councilmember Mahaffey said he thinks it should always be the town’s policy to do bike 16 
lanes when they re-pave, but he would also like to have some budget to identify some of the high-17 
traffic areas and go out and re-stripe them early without having to wait for re-paving.  18 

Ms. Shouse said they noted in their review that was something they could ask developers for, 19 
and the next step would be to ask for funding to stripe road locations that are ready for those 20 
markings. 21 

Councilmember Mahaffey said he would give her the funding through Council.  22 
Councilmember Gantt asked why the cost of the South Salem Bikeway was so expensive. 23 
Interim Town Manager Purvis said widening would have to occur with that project, and it 24 

was a bit more complicated because of the railroad and other factors. 25 
Councilmember Zegerman asked if it would be a new path or just striping. 26 
Interim Town Manager Purvis said he was not sure if that was part of the bike plan. 27 
Ms. Shouse said there isn’t a design for the bike lane yet, but she imagines that it will be 28 

buffered in the higher speed areas. 29 
Director Johnson said he was not sure if they would be buffered, but there are plans for 30 

them to be on-street. He said some areas may be side pathed. 31 
Councilmember Zegerman asked if there were plans to extend the multi-use path from 32 

Depot 499. 33 
Ms. Shouse said not on the north because of 540, but there are plans for connections on the 34 

south side. She said bike lanes would be along the entire corridor. 35 
Councilmember Gantt said it would be striped without a connection, which would be 36 

annoying. He said if they had already done this the developers would have done that one. 37 
Director Johnson said that would require DOT approval as a state road, and they typically 38 

don’t like marking roads unless there are connections.  39 
 40 
Mayor Gilbert opened up Public Hearing for this item. 41 
 42 
 First to speak was Elizabeth Stitt of 3113 Friendship Road: 43 
 44 

- Page 29 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 13 of 19 
 

“So I was the one that made the public comment yesterday. You know, all of this happened really 1 
fast. I signed up for public notices and all. I don’t get them all of the time for various reasons, 2 
sometimes it goes spam folder, and I declassify them to go back etc. So, if you look at this particular 3 
case, it shows up on Planning Board agenda on Wednesday of last week for a vote on Monday, and 4 
then it showed up on the Town Council agenda technically Friday for tonight. So, it went for a vote in 5 
front of Planning Board last night, and then a vote tonight for a vote in front of the Town Council, and 6 
I ask for these three roads to be pulled out partly because we have the study area being done, and 7 
most of my neighbors, I did a quick telephone call to various ones and they’re like, they were 8 
surprised, because their assumption was we have the open houses, we saw the plans, we thought 9 
there wouldn’t be any changes to the plans in our area until something was brought back, so some 10 
people were not paying attention. And so, having the little extra caution of making sure that we don’t 11 
have the wrong impression, I asked if they could be removed, it’s not necessarily an objection to it, 12 
but that’s what people were thinking the open houses were, saying hey here’s where we’re starting, 13 
we’re going to go back in a couple months and we’re all going to have this conversation. And so that 14 
was the overall reason for the ask. And I bring up the Wednesday to Tuesday, there is a perception, 15 
there is a perception that anything that goes from Wednesday to Tuesday, in less than a week, in 16 
front of two boards for a vote, that it’s getting rammed through. Now this is low risk, if it had been 17 
rammed, okay, nobody is going to be really upset. But it’s case in point of where people get 18 
frustrated, they’re like they don’t even want us to get involved, they set up the process so quick and 19 
so tight there’s no way to get involved. And that’s one of those things I’ve been trying to tell my 20 
community, is you have to get involved, but when it’s this tight, it just kills people’s morale. So I put 21 
my to come and all that tonight, and I’m very grateful that Dianne and Planning Board and 22 
everybody pulled it off and understood that. But when it’s this tight, we need more time for the 23 
public to respond, I happen to work from home, I have a global job which means sometimes I work 24 
at night, because my teams are global, so I have flex time and I was able to break free yesterday and 25 
show up here and talk for my community, because a lot of my neighbors can’t. But we need more 26 
time. Even for me, a week is difficult, and I can’t just totally clear my schedule and make my life all 27 
about Town Council and Planning Board meetings. So, if there’s a way we can add a little more time 28 
to the process it would be helpful, thank you.” 29 
 30 
 Mayor Gilbert thanked Ms. Stitt for her comments. He then moved discussion back to 31 
Council. 32 
 33 
 A motion was made by Councilmember Zegerman, seconded by Councilmember 34 
Mahaffey, to approve the Bicycle and Pedestrian System Plan Map Amendment for Bicycle Lanes on 35 
Major Collectors with the removal of Map IDs 11-13. 36 
 37 
 Councilmember Gantt said it was worth noting they don’t do back-to-backs for Public 38 
Hearings because they can be controversial, but he supposes this one was not. He said there isn’t 39 
much of an anti-bike movement in Apex. He added they don’t typically do the process this way, but 40 
this one was something more non-controversial.  41 
 42 
 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 43 
 44 

- Page 30 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 14 of 19 
 

[NEW BUSINESS] 1 
 2 
NB1 Façade Grant Program - Proposed Eligibility Changes 3 

 Planning Director Dianne Khin gave the following presentation regarding Façade Grant 4 
Program – Proposed Eligibility Changes. 5 
[SLIDE 11] 6 

 7 
[SLIDE 12] 8 

 9 
 10 
 11 
 12 
 13 
 14 
 15 
 16 
 17 
 18 
 19 
 20 

- Page 31 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 15 of 19 
 

[SLIDE 13] 1 

 2 
 3 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if the proposed expanded boundary is the existing 4 
downtown festival district. 5 
 Director Khin said yes. 6 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if she has gotten any feedback from business owners 7 
about this. 8 
 Director Khin said they someone on Chatham Street that will applying as soon as this is 9 
approved. In the past, the town had been asked about the Tap Station. She said properties need to 10 
be there for three years to request.  11 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said there was concern expressed that Apex Baptist is in this 12 
area, but there are two other churches nearby that are just outside of the boundary.  13 
 Director Khin said they can specify that churches are not eligible. She said these are 14 
supposed to be businesses.  15 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if a church would not qualify. 16 
 Director Khin said it’s an economic development project, and they can clarify that it’s only 17 
businesses that are eligible.  18 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said he wanted to express the feedback that only one church was 19 
in this area. 20 
 Director Khin said that was not the intent. 21 
 Councilmember Zegerman asked how many new businesses would be eligible, and how 22 
many of those are in historical structures. He said these boundaries include brand new buildings, 23 
and he doesn’t think this fund was meant to address that. He said he feels like they are 24 
overcorrecting a bit.  25 
 Director Khin said they have to be there for three years before they can request funds. She 26 
said there is already one business in the Central Business District that will be requesting funds when 27 
they are eligible. She added that the other issue is that it has to be a very defined boundary. She said 28 
they don’t have anything in between. 29 
 Councilmember Zegerman asked if they could make the program more attractive by 30 
covering more of the cost and keeping it in the area they want to target, like the downtown areas 31 

- Page 32 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 16 of 19 
 

and some of the Chatham properties. He said expanding to this range and including brand new 1 
properties was not the intent of this plan. 2 
 Councilmember Gantt asked if the intent was to make downtown look more appealing, not 3 
just for older buildings.  4 
 Director Khin said it is for any buildings.  5 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said they could debate percentages, but it is important for 6 
property owners to have some skin in the game.  7 
 Councilmember Zegerman said he agrees. 8 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said they want to invest in the downtown appearance to enhance 9 
the economy of the town. He said the money is not getting out there.  10 
 Councilmember Gantt said this was a first step to expand the area, and if the utilization was 11 
still too low, they could look at other ways to address it. 12 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said they may find out they get too many applications from 13 
expanding it. He asked if there was a process in place to determine where the funds would go if 14 
there were too many applications. 15 
 Director Khin said it’s first come first served, but so far this year there have been zero 16 
applicants.  17 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked how they rated them. 18 
 Director Khin said they don’t, they review them for compliance, and they get turned down if 19 
they don’t meet all the standards.  20 
 Mayor Gilbert asked how far south of 55 this overlayed. 21 
 Director Khin said it ends at West Williams Street.  22 
 Mayor Gilbert said there are businesses south of 55 that could really use this grant. He asked 23 
why those wouldn’t be included. 24 
 Director Khin said they would have to do a completely different district.  25 
 Councilmember Zegerman said this boundary was already recognized as a district so it is 26 
easier to transport over. 27 
 Mayor Gilbert said he understands that, but they have an opportunity to bring more people 28 
in, and there are many businesses they could help south of 55.  29 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if he was talking about 55 down South Salem. 30 
 Mayor Gilbert said yes.  31 
 Councilmember Gantt said 55 needs a lot of work, but said that was the plan at some point. 32 
 Mayor Gilbert said he just wants to think about how they can help the businesses south of 33 
55. 34 
 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said she agreed with the Mayor. She thinks this needs to 35 
be expanded south. 36 
 Councilmember Gantt said there would be the 55 widening that may cause some of the 37 
investments to be lost. 38 
 Councilmember Gray asked about the amount and kinds of questions staff had received 39 
from businesses outside the current façade grant district.  40 
 Director Khin said they have been asked if there are grants available for those properties. 41 
She said specifically there was one property outside of the current central business district.  42 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked why the small-town character site plan was necessary. 43 

- Page 33 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 17 of 19 
 

 Director Khin said that is a pretty simple process that staff can assist with, and applicants 1 
don’t need to hire any external help.   2 
 Councilmember Mahaffey was trying to look at other barriers to the application. 3 
 Director Khin said usually this is just some simple drawings or picture comparisons. She said 4 
this was usually awnings. 5 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if they could draw a map right now, or if it would need to 6 
come back. 7 
 Director Khin said they couldn’t draw it right now, because there were legal issues. 8 
 Deputy Town Manager Purvis said grants have to be very narrowed and tailored to ensure 9 
the town meets statutory guidelines. He said this is typically tied with economic development 10 
purposes, and there almost always has to be defined districts. He said getting out of the downtown 11 
area may become a broader program, and may not be allowed to use grants. He said they also have 12 
to consider resources limitations. He added that arbitrary guidelines do not work. He said it 13 
essentially has to be downtown or everybody, and they would need to look at what program they 14 
could develop for that. He said this more of an incremental step for downtown, but it does not 15 
improve other small business improvement programs. 16 
 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth requested to include the area of the First Baptist Church 17 
in the Downtown Festival District, expanding south of West Williams Street all the way down to 18 
potentially St. Mary’s Church. 19 
 Director Khin said they wanted an UDO Amendment to change the boundaries of the 20 
Downtown Festival District instead of changing the façade grant program. 21 
 Councilmember Gray said that may not be necessarily the request. He said it seems they are 22 
trying to expand the applicant pool, but there are other businesses they could add to that. He said 23 
they wanted to expand what was in the small-town overall district. He would like to see a criterion for 24 
review of these proposals. He said he doesn’t think they should have only the downtown be a part of 25 
the downtown character. He said expanding it would be an equitable way of addressing it.  26 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said the small-town character overall district was different, and it 27 
had its own statutory implications. He said some of the property owners may not want to be in the 28 
small-town overlay district. He said this would be matching it to the festival district, and some 29 
property owners may have some feedback about being included in that.  30 
 Director Khin is mainly for businesses to have special events for private property. 31 
 Councilmember Mahaffey said they have to have boundaries for this program, and the 32 
festival district would expand the currently used map for this program. He said he thinks they should 33 
expand the festival district and make it a selling point that it would be included in the façade 34 
program as well. 35 
 Councilmember Gray said they could maybe make a third map that would allow properties 36 
included to apply for façade grants. He said they are making decisions based on reasoning and 37 
study, but it seems they could make maps to accommodate a grant they aren’t getting enough 38 
applications for, and they have places that can’t access those funds that could use them. 39 
 Director Khin said there would need to be a study done for those areas. She said those 40 
studies would take years for the area south of 55. She said this was an interim thought. 41 
 Councilmember Zegerman said they look at the festival district first, then look at that district 42 
and see if it was the right district. 43 

- Page 34 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 18 of 19 
 

 Director Khin said they should look at the festival district before making decisions on this 1 
matter.  2 
 Deputy Town Manager Purvis said he recommends they table this, and they bring this back 3 
after looking at the potential of expanding the festival district. He said there needs to be a reason for 4 
all the things to do with grant money.  5 
 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said she sees a lot of historic Black businesses and 6 
churches south of the area that needs to be included in the festival district.  7 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked if they wanted to keep this coupled with the festival district 8 
or not.  9 
 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said she would suggest that they follow Deputy Town 10 
Manager Purvis’ recommendation of looking at the festival district, and then bringing this back.  11 
 Councilmember Gantt said the bad part about that would be the businesses that want it now 12 
are not going to be able to get it. 13 
 Councilmember Mahaffey asked why wouldn’t they approve this tonight, if they know what 14 
they ultimately wanted to do would be a superset of this. He said there are people waiting to apply 15 
having watched this develop. 16 
 Deputy Town Manager Purvis said they could approve this as-is, and then direct staff to still 17 
look at the festival district.  18 
 Mayor Gilbert said he is good with that, and to go ahead and approve this. He said he is 19 
good as long as staff then looks at expanding the festival district.  20 
 Councilmember Gray said he thinks it is not a good look to have properties north and south 21 
of Williams Street looked at differently.  22 
 Director Khin said a whole plan in place needs to be in place for those areas before looking 23 
at expanding the façade grant into them. She said these things have been on the list for a while. She 24 
added that the widening of 55 being delayed has been an issue as well.  25 
 Mayor Pro Tempore Killingsworth said to go straight down Salem for now, and they can 26 
talk further when they know more information.  27 
 28 

A motion was made by Councilmember Mahaffey, seconded by Councilmember Gray, to 29 
approved the Façade Grant Program Eligibility Changes as presented, and to direct staff to look at 30 
potentially expanding the Downtown Festival District and present proposals to Council. 31 

 32 
VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 33 

 34 
[UPDATES BY INTERIM TOWN MANAGER] 35 
 36 
 Interim Town Manager Purvis said they recently had their Love Local event downtown 37 
which went very well. He said they are looking at that being an annual event. He said last night was 38 
also the Indigenous People’s Day celebration which was very well attended. He said last week they 39 
went to the bond market for about 20 million in bonds, mostly for the Peakway project. He said they 40 
will close on those in about 2 weeks. He said next week there is a finance Work Session, and then a 41 
Strategic Planning update on the 27th. He said they want to get ahead on the budget process with 42 
things. He said the West Street Park RFP is posted. He added that November 4th would be the ribbon 43 
cutting for Pleasant Park at 10 AM.  44 

- Page 35 -



DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 19 of 19 
 

 1 
 Mayor Gilbert recognized a member of the scouts in attendance, as well as some members 2 
of the Mayor’s Internship Program. He said Diwali 2023 would be happening at the Koka Booth 3 
Amphitheater on Saturday, and Councilmember Gantt would be dancing.  4 
 Councilmember Gantt said he was not very good, but it would be fun and there would be 5 
plenty of good food. 6 
 7 
[ADJOURNMENT] 8 
 9 
 Mayor Gilbert adjourned the meeting at 7:33 p.m. 10 
 11 

Jacques K. Gilbert 12 
Mayor 13 

 14 
Allen Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 15 
Town Clerk to the Apex Town Council  16 
 17 
Submitted for approval by Town Clerk Allen Coleman and approved on ________________________.  18 
 19 

 20 

- Page 36 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: October 24, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Amanda Grogan, Director 

Department(s): Budget & Performance Management 

Requested Motion 

Motion to approve amended Fee Schedule for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 to include addition of mattress and box 

spring disposal fee and increase to wholesale water rates and columbarium rates. 

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

The Finance Committee unanimously approved the following changes at the September 21st meeting: 
 
Solid Waste 

South Wake landfill requires mattresses and box springs be separated from MSW, implementing a mattress 

shredder program with an additional $10 fee per item in September 2023.  

 Request: Amend the fee structure to allow cost recovery of SWLF mattress tipping fee (Pass-through) 

 

Water Utility 

Implemented gradual increase since 2018 to match 

commercial rate structure for water & sewer  

Request: Amend the fee structure increasing water 

base and volumetric rates to match commercial rates 

 

Cemetery Columbarium 

 Single Urn: $1,400 & add 

an option for Double Urn 

at $2,000 
 

Attachments 

 CN3-A1: Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Amended Fee Schedule 

 

Option Construction Niche Cost Cost Recovery

Full project & niches at buildout $1,435,000 $195,000 $2,100

Remaining cost & niches at buildout $814,000 $195,000 $1,300

Full project & niches at buildout with escalation $1,475,700 $214,500 $2,200

Remaining cost & niches at buildout with escalation $854,700 $214,500 $1,400

* Escalation estimated at 5% for the project and 10% for the niches; cost recovery round to the nearest 100

- Page 37 -



Budget Guide 
 

 Town of Apex, North Carolina  

Fee Schedule - Effective 7/1/2023 
 

 

Schedule subject to change upon approval by Town Council 
 

 

TAXES & FEES 

Tax Rate $0.44/$100 valuation of property Vehicle Fee (pursuant to NCGS 20-97 (b1) $30/vehicle 

DOCUMENT / COPY FEES 

Copying up to 11” x 17” (black and white) $0.10/sheet Document Recording / E-Recording At cost 

Copying and maps up to 11” x 17” (color) $0.40/sheet 3 ring or spiral bound documents/plans $35 

Copying larger than 11” x 17” (black and white) $5/sheet Unified Development Ordinance $40 

Copying larger than 11” x 17” (color) $20/sheet Design and Development Manual $15 

Printed 24” x 36”  $20/sheet DVD Copy $0.50/disc 

Printed 36” x 48” maps $40/sheet   

MISCELLANEOUS 

Rain Barrel $88.00 Cemetery Resident Non – Resident Military Rate* 

  
 Cemetery Plots $800 $1200 

$640 (resident)  

$960 (non-resident) 

   Columbarium Niches Single Urn: $1,400 Double Urn: $2,000 $800 $640 

  *20% cemetery discount Military rate applies to current and retired military personnel only 
 

 

 

Development Fees 
 

PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY CLOSURE  

Submit request and fees to Administration 

Right-of-Way Closure Application Fee $100 Right-of-Way Closure Processing Fee $600 

Due with request/application/non-refundable Due prior to Council considering request; refundable if request is withdrawn prior to 

advertising. 

DEVELOPMENT SUBMITTAL FEES 

For Zoning/Subdivision/Site Activity - Calculated and collected by the Planning Department 

Administrative Adjustment $150 Sign, Master Plan  $150 

Administrative Approval (Small Town Character Overlay) No Charge Sign, Permanent  $75+$5/add’l sign 

Annexation Petition $200 Sign, Temporary  $25 

Appeal (Board of Adjustment) $650 Site Inspections (Non-residential lot)₂ 

Site Inspections (Residential lot)₃ 

$500 

$35 

Certificate of Zoning Compliance (CZC)₁ $100 Site Plan, Major  $1,100+$5/acre 

Consultant Fees As required Site Plan, Minor $800 

Development Name Change $500 Special Use Permit $700 

Exempt Site Plan – enlargement of a structure $250 Temporary Use Permits (Non - Event): $100 

Exempt Site Plan – all other exempt site plans $150 Temporary Use Permits  (Event):  

Home Occupation  $50 For Profit $50   For Profit Express Review $75 

Late Fee – Site Plans/Master Subdivision 

Plan/PUD/Rezoning/Conditional Zoning (and resubmittals) 
$300 Non-Profit $0 Non-Profit Express Review $25 

Master Subdivision Plans Residential & Non-Residential   $750 + $10/lot Text Amendments (UDO) $600 

Planned Unit Development (PUD-CZ) $1,600+$10/acre Transportation Impact Analysis Review₄  

PUD-CZ not requiring full TRC Review $600 Sites & Subdivisions $500 PUD $1,000 

Plat, Easement & Exempt $200 Revised Sites & Subdivisions $250 PUD $500 

Plat, Master Subdivision Final $300 + $10/lot Tree Protection Fencing Inspection (Site Plan): 

Plat, Recombination  $200 - less than 2 acres: $50 - 2-15 acres:  $75 

Plat, Site Plan Final $300 -15 up to 25 acres: $150 -25+ acre: $200 

Pond Drainage Plan $500 Tree Protection Fencing Inspection (Master Subdivision Plan): 

Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing- Town Council Only $500 - up to 15 acres: $75 - 15-50 acres: $150 

Re-submittal Fees – Site Plans: 3rd submittal; Master 

Subdivision Plans; 4th submittal 
½ Original Fee - 51+ acres: 

Tree Removal Plan 
$300   

$500 

Rezoning/Conditional Zoning $700/$1000 Variance Permit $650 

Sustainable Development Conditional Zoning 

(SD-CZ) 

$1,600+$10/acre Zoning Verification Letter $125 

1. No charge for the first tenant in a new building 2. Charged at Site Plan Final Plat 3. Charged at permit 4. Projects inactive for one year require new TIA and full submittal fee 

  

- Page 38 -



Budget Guide 
 

RECREATION FEES₁ 

For New Residential Developments Assessed after 1/1/2023 - Collected by the Planning Department 

Housing Type Fee Per Unit Acreage Per Unit Decimal Multiplier 

Single Family Detached $4,016.66 1/30 acre 0.0333 

Single Family Attached $2,705.23 1/45 acre 0.0223 

Multi-Family Attached $2,381.87 1/51 acre 0.01964 
Existing Town ordinances require either the dedication of open space for public recreation or the payment of a fee in lieu per unit. The requirement regarding land 

dedication or fee in lieu will be based, in large part, on the Town’s adopted Parks, Recreation, Greenways, and Open Space Master Plan. Recommendations regarding 

the acceptance of land or fee in lieu are made to the Town Council by the Parks, Recreation, and Cultural Resources Advisory Commission.  

1. Annually on January 1, the fee amount shall be automatically adjusted in accordance with UDO §14.7.1(B). 

 

ENCROACHMENT AGREEMENT 

Submit to Development Services 

Encroachment agreement preparation and recording  $250 + eRecording Fee at Cost 
 

CONSTRUCTION FEES/BONDS 

Calculated and collected by Development Services 

Bond Administration Fee: - Cash/check: $100 - Surety Bond/Letter of Credit $300 - Reduction/Amendment $100 

Fee in Lieu Administration Fee: $100  

Construction Plan Submittal Fees (Subdivisions) $700 + $10/Lot 

Construction Plan Submittal Fees (Sites, Utility Extensions, etc.) $700 + $15/Sheet 

Re-submittal Fees – Construction Plans (3rd submittal and every other subsequent submittal (3rd, 5th, 7th, etc.) ½ Original Fee 

Late Fee – Construction Plan Submittal and Resubmittal $300 

Construction Plan Revisions (after initial approval) $75/sheet 

Water Extension Permit Application $200 

Sewer Extension Permit Application $480 

Water and/or Sewer Extension Permit Amendment  $100 each 

Infrastructure Extension Record Drawing Review (1st & 2nd reviews) $200 

Infrastructure Extension Record Drawing Review (3rd, 5th, 7th, etc. reviews) $100  

Infrastructure Extension Record Drawing Review (after initial approval/field changes) $100 

Construction Inspection Fees: 

Water Lines $1.50 per linear foot Fire Lanes $1.75 per linear foot 

Sewer Lines $1.50 per linear foot Sidewalks/Greenways    $1.50 per linear foot 

New Streets (public) $1.75 per linear foot per lane Infill/Outparcel Lots $350 per lot 

Curb & Gutter (All New/replaced 

public) 

$0.50 per linear foot Driveway, residential Per Building Permit Schedule 

Storm Drains (public) $1.50 per linear foot Driveway, not ready Per Building Permit Schedule 

Pump Station Review and Inspection $2,500 each Driveway, reinspection Per Building Permit Schedule 

Warranty Bonds 25% of cost of installed and approved Infrastructure 

Performance Bonds 125% of cost of uninstalled Improvements 

*Repairs to damages water/sewer lines caused by construction shall be billed to the responsible party and include the cost of materials + 10% and current 

equipment and labor rates. 
 

 

SOIL AND EROSION CONTROL FEES/GUARANTEES 

Submit to Development Services 

Application for S&E Plan Approval  $500 per disturbed acre 

Future Lot Grading*  $50 per acre of remaining building lot acreage 

S&E Performance Guarantee**  $2,500 per disturbed acre 

*The future lot grading fee provides coverage under an erosion control permit and ensures compliance with NPDES stormwater regulations.  Only the    

additional land disturbance associated with future building lots needs to be included. 

**Performance guarantee must be in the form of a certified check, cash, or irrevocable letter of credit approved by the Town.  The performance guarantee 

is due prior to the Town issuing a Letter of S&E Plan Approval and may be fully refunded after the issuance of the certificate of completion. 

 

 

STORMWATER PLAN REVIEW FEES/BONDS 

Submit to Development Services 

 Project Size (disturbed acres) Stormwater Plan Review Fee  

 < 1 acre $0   

 1 - 5 acres $500  

 5 - 50 acres  $500 + $50 per additional disturbed acre   

$500 base review fee for projects disturbing up to 5 acres.  Add $50 per additional disturbed acre beyond 5 acres.  Development projects that disturb less than 1 acre of land are 

not subject to the stormwater plan review fees since they are exempt from stormwater controls.  The stormwater plan review fee will be limited to a maximum of 50 acres. 

SCM Maintenance Bond 25% of cost of installed and approved Infrastructure  

SCM Performance Bond 125% of cost of uninstalled Improvements 

SCM As-Built Review Fee:  $200 per SCM 

- Page 39 -



Budget Guide 
 

            COMMERCIAL BUILDING PERMIT FEES 

Calculated and collected by Building Inspections and Permitting 

NEW STRUCTURES, ADDITIONS AND ALTERATIONS (Base Fee) 1,2,3 

Total Gross Building Floor 

Area of Construction 
  Fee Computation 1. Alterations to existing structures, with no footprint increase, are charged at a 

rate of .60 of the Permit Fee or the minimum per trade fee based upon the 

Single Trade Fee Schedule, whichever is greater. 

2. Permits for “shell” buildings are charged at a rate of .60 of the Permit Fee, 

based upon a Business Occupancy, or the minimum per trade fee based upon 

the Single Trade Fee Schedule, whichever is greater.  Area within the building 

shell, which is intended to be occupied, will have the permit fees for the 

occupied area computed per footnote #1 above. 

3. Additional Miscellaneous Fees, listed below, will be added to the permit fees 

as applicable. 

0 - 500 Per Trade (see schedule below) 

501 - 5,000 A x B = Permit Fees 

5,001 - 10,000 (A x B X .80) + (1,000 X B) = Permit Fee 

10,001 - 15,000 (A x B X .70) + (3,000 X B) = Permit Fee 

15,001 - 20,000 (A x B X .60) + (4,500 X B) = Permit Fee 

20,001 - above (A x B X .50) + (6,500 X B) = Permit Fee 
A=Total Gross Building Floor Area      B= Fee Per Square Foot Based Upon Occupancy 

Single Trade Fee Schedule Fee Per Square Foot of Floor Area Based on Occupancy 

Building/Pool/Hot Tub Building $150 Occupancy Fee  Occupancy Fee  Occupancy Fee 

Electrical/Pool/Hot Tub Electrical $75 Assembly 0.55  Factory/Industrial 0.40  Mercantile 0.50 

Mechanical/Pool/Hot Tub Mechanical $75 Business 0.60  Hazardous 0.50  Residential 0.55 

Plumbing/Pool/Hot Tub Plumbing $75 Educational 0.60  Institutional 0.60  Storage/Utility 0.30 

Grading $75         

MISCELLANEOUS FEES 

Change of General Contractor $50 

Conditional Electrical Power Inspection (Apex and Duke) Optional Inspection 

Conditional Mechanical Systems Inspection Optional Inspection 

Demolition (All Trades) $120 

Dumpster Enclosure $150 (Single Trade Building) 

Electric Vehicle Parking $75 per site (No fee when at an existing development) 

Elevator $50 per elevator 

Fire Alarm $75 

Fire Pumps, each $250 

Fire Sprinkler System $0.03 per square feet 

Fire Suppression $50 

Grease/Oil Interceptor $50 

Hood Suppression $75 

Irrigation System See Irrigation Meters (pg 5) + Capital Reimbursement Fees (pg 6) 

Refrigeration $75 

Retaining Wall Permit $1 per linear foot 

Sales/Construction Trailer/Modular Classroom Per Single Trade Fee Schedule 

Sign – New $150 + $75 if electrical needed 

Site Lighting $75 

Solar PV System No Fee 

Spray Paint Booth, each $150 

Storage Tank, each $50 Plus Associated Single Trade Fees 

Temporary Power (Town of Apex) $125 

Water and Sewer Capital Reimbursement Fees and Water Meters Refer to Capital Reimbursement Fee Schedule (pg 6) 

Work Without a Permit Double Permit Fees 

Stop Work Order $150 (May Require Extra Trip Fee) 

Expired Permit  ½ Cost of Original Permit Fee 

PLAN REVIEW FEES (Non-refundable) 

Per Trade (Not applied toward cost of permit) $100 (no fee for Electric Vehicle Parking at an existing development) 

Plan Modification (Not applied toward cost of permit) ½ Review Fee or ½ per trade fee for single trade modifications 

Re-review fee (Not applied toward cost of permit) ½ Review Fee @ 3rd, 5th, 7th, etc. 

Re-stamp Plans, Per Trade $75 

Retaining Wall, per submitted grouping (at least one per project/subdivision) $100 

EXPRESS PLAN REVIEW (2 hr. min) * ADMINSTRATIVE FEES 

First Hour $1,000 Duplicate Building Record Card $10 

Each additional 15 minutes $250 General Records Research, Archive Files $3/page 

Cancellation Fee (3 days prior notice) $200 General Records Research, Current Files over 10 pages $0.50/page 

*when service is available    

  

- Page 40 -



Budget Guide 
 

INSPECTION FEES 

Water Resources Certificate of Occupancy - 

Water/Sewer Final 

$100 Job not ready for inspection or installation of tap, 

meter, etc. 

$150 

Standard re-inspection fee (Building, Electrical, 

Mechanical, Plumbing, Driveway, Water, and/or Sewer) 

$75 Cancelled Inspection fee (not cancelled by 8:00 am of 

scheduled day) 

$75 

Previous violations not corrected (all trades) $150  

ONE AND TWO FAMILY DWELLING PERMIT FEES 

Calculated and collected by Building Inspections and Permitting 

NEW STRUCTURES (Single Family/Duplex/Townhomes)   $/SQ. FT. MIN/$/UNIT 

3,000 Gross SF and Less                                                                                                                0.35 $500 

>3,000 Gross SF:(3000SFx $0.35/SF)+(Additional SF x $0.35/SF x.75) = Permit Fee   Per Formula  

ADDITIONS/ALTERATIONS 

800 SQUARE FEET AND GREATER 

ADDITIONS/ALTERATION 

LESS THAN 800 SQUARE FEET 

 $/SQ. FT.   MIN/$/UNIT     MIN/$/UNIT    

Building $0.19 $150 Building $150 

Electrical $0.09 $75 Electrical $75 

Plumbing $0.09 $75 Plumbing $75 

Mechanical $0.09 $75 Mechanical $75 

  ACCESSORY STRUCTURES MIN/$/UNIT SINGLE TRADE FEE SCHEDULE 

Decks, Sheds, Roof Additions & Detached Garages, 400 sq. ft. or less $75 Building/Pool/Hot Tub Building $150 

Decks, Sheds, Roof Additions & Detached Garages > 400 sq. ft. $150 Electrical/Pool/Hot Tub Electrical $75 

Trellis (Attached to a structure) $40 Mechanical/Pool/Hot Tub Mechanical $75 

Retaining Wall Plan Review $100 Plumbing/Pool/Hot Tub Plumbing  $75 

Retaining Wall $1 per linear foot Grading $75 

  MISCELLANEOUS 

Change of General Contractor $50 

Change of Lot $50 

Demolition (All Trades)  $150 

Driveway $100/lot 

House Moved $375 

Irrigation See Irrigation Meters (pg 5) + Capital Reimbursement Fees (pg 6) 

Mobile Home (All Trades) $150 

Modular Home (All Trades) $375 

Solar PV System No Fee 

Temporary Power (Town of Apex Only) $125  

Work Without Permit Double Permit Fees 

Expired Permit ½ Cost of Original Permit Fee 

PLAN REVIEW FEES (Non-refundable) 

Initial Fee for New Single Family and Townhome Construction (Not applied to cost of permit) $110 

Initial Fee All Other Construction (Not applied toward cost of permit) $100 

Plan Modification Fee (Not applied toward cost of permit) ½ Review Fee  

Re-review Fee (Not applied toward cost of permit) ½ Review Fee @ 3rd, 5th, 7th, etc. 

Re-stamp Plans $60 

INSPECTION FEES 

Water Resources Certificate of Occupancy - Water/Sewer Final $100 

Standard re-inspection fee (Building, Electrical, Mechanical, Plumbing, Water, and/or Sewer)  $75 

Job not ready for inspection or installation of tap, meter, etc. $150 

Previous Building, Electrical, Mechanical, Plumbing violations not corrected $150 

EXPRESS PLAN REVIEW (2 HOUR MINIMUM) – When service is available 

First Hour $600 + $150 each additional 15 minutes 

Cancellation Fee without (3 days prior notice) $200 

 
  

- Page 41 -



Budget Guide 
 

ELECTRICAL UNDERGROUND AND SERVICE LATERAL FEES 

Calculated by the Electric Department 

Primary Facilities: Service Laterals: 

Collected by Electric Department Collected by Building Inspections Permitting 
Based on cost difference of normal overhead facilities 

and the requested underground facilities. 

Charges are for the first 100 feet of service length.   An excess footage charge, if applicable, is 

billed separately by the Electric Utilities Division at $4.25/foot over 100 feet. 

Single-Family  $2,722/lot Single-Family  $776/service lateral 

Townhomes $1,914/unit Townhomes $776/service lateral 

Apartments $1,914 point of delivery Apartments Apartments are typically served with multiple meter bases at approved 

EV Chargers   @ cost determined at submittal 

_request 

 locations; service laterals are usually installed in conjunction with the 

primary facilities and service lateral charges do not apply 

   

WATER TAPS AND METER FEES** 

Submit Tap fees to Water Resources and Water Meter fees to Building Inspections and Permitting 
Fees are based on 60 foot right-of-way roads and lateral lengths less than 100 feet.  Special cases, wider rights-of-way, special or complex boring and items 

not shown shall be at cost. 

Size    Base Cost  Add Bore         Add Street Cut Meter Only* 

¾ inch $2,300 $550 $1,000 $315 

1 inch $2,600 $550 $1,000 $450 

1 ½ inch N/A N/A N/A $785 

2 inch N/A N/A N/A $960 

3 inch N/A N/A N/A $3,255 

4 inch N/A N/A N/A $4,265 

*If meter setter is not readily accessible or not functional when town staff arrives onsite, the meter will not be installed. Owner will be required to 

reschedule and pay fee as noted under “Inspection Fees” section (pgs 3 and 4) of this document. The Town will reschedule work within 7 days of receipt of 

the “Inspection Fees”. 

SEWER TAPS** 

            Size    Base Cost     Add Bore         Add Street Cut 

           4 inch $2,100   Not available $1,000 

**The Town of Apex does not install water or sewer taps for commercial development or new residential construction. 

 

WATER BACTERIOLOGICAL SAMPLE FEE 
Samples collected by Water Resources Department.  Fees collected by Development Services                                $175 

 

SEWER AND STORMWATER RE-INSPECTION FEES 

Submit to Water Resources Department 

Sewer and Storm drain re-inspection fee $325 remobilization fee plus $0.25 per linear foot over 1,000’ 

              

IRRIGATION METERS 

Submit to Building Inspections & Permitting (Irrigation meter required for ALL irrigation systems) 

 Single-Family Residential 

(Includes duplex and townhomes) 

Multi-Family and Commercial 

Permit Fee $75 $75 

Meter Fee Based on meter size; see “Water Meter Fees” (pg 6) Based on meter size; see “Water Meter Fees,” (pg 6) 

Meter Tap  $800 (See condition 7 below) See condition 6 below 

Capital Reimbursement 

Fees 

Based on meter size; see “Capital Reimbursement Fees” 

(pg 6) 

Based on meter size; see “Capital Reimbursement Fees” (pg 

6) 

Conditions: 
1. All irrigation meters will require payment of capital reimbursement fees. 

2. NCGS requires a second meter for in-ground irrigation systems and that systems be protected by an approved backflow preventer. 

3. A plumbing permit is required for installation of the system from the meter to the backflow preventer. 

4. All associated fees will be collected by the Building Inspections & Permitting Department prior to issuance of a permit. 

5. All other non-single family customers (subdivision entrances and commercial sites) require a second meter. 

6. The Water Resources – Water & Sewer Utility Operations Division will only install the tap for meters for existing single-family customers; all 

other taps must be installed by a private contractor and inspected by Water Resources Infrastructure Inspections Division. 

7. Single family Meter Tap Fee includes installing a split tap at an existing meter. If the split tap is already installed, see “Meter Only” fees under 

the “Water Taps & Meter Fees.” 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
- Page 42 -



Budget Guide 
 

WATER AND SEWER CAPITAL REIMBURSEMENT FEES 

Calculated and collected by Inspections and Permitting & Planning 

The purpose of Capital Reimbursement Fees are one-time capital charges assessed against new development as a way to provide 

or cover a proportional share of the costs of capital facilities. These treatment facilities provide the system capacity that each new 

development will demand when connected to the water and sewer systems. Additional fee assessments shall be required of 

nonresidential customers who, after paying a Capital Reimbursement Fees fee, expand their service requirements. A 75% grant may 

be available in the Central Business District.   

Meter Size (inches) Water Fee Sewer Fee Total Fees 

3/4 $1,788 $4,290 $6,078 

1 $2,980 $7,150 $10,130 

1.5 $5,960 $14,300 $20,260 

2 $9,536 $22,880 $32,416 

3 $19,072 $45,760 $64,832 

4 $29,800 $71,500 $101,300 

6 $59,600 $143,000 $202,600 

8 $95,360 $228,800 $324,160 

10 $250,320 $600,600 $850,920 

12 $315,880 $757,900 $1,073,780 
 

Utility Rates & Fees 
 

CUSTOMER DEPOSITS 
Residential Electric Deposit $200 Commercial Deposit 2 times monthly average for service location or 

minimum of $200* Residential Water Deposit $50 

*NCGS 160A-314 (a); North Carolina Utilities Commission Guidelines: R8-33 

FEES 
Application/Service Initiation Fee $15 Pretreatment Program Charges  

Returned Check/Draft Fee $25 - Permitted Flow (per 1,000 gallons) $0.33  

Non-Payment Service Fee $25 Surcharge Rates (quarterly)  

After Hours Service Fee $75 - BOD $0.278 per lb. 

Late Fee for Charges Unpaid by Due Date 1% of unpaid balance  - COD $0.278 per lb. 

Extension Fee $0 - TSS $0.051 per lb. 

Reconnect Disconnected Meter $25 Analytical Testing Charges  

Backflow Testing At cost - BOD   $20 

Meter Testing Fees  - TSS   $12 

 Meter Test Fee (one test per year at no cost; additional 

reads are charged only if the meter read is correct) 

$50 - Ammonia  $12 

 Meter Test (under 2 inch meter) $50 - COD $20 

 Meter Test (2+ inch meter) At cost + 10 % - Cyanide $25 

Damaged Water Meter* $53 + cost of meter - Oil & Grease $30 

Damaged ERT Holder Replacement Fee* $16.25 - Total Phosphorus $16 

Pedestal Replacement (Electric) $149 + cost of pedestal - Total Nitrogen  $40 

Septic Tank Pump Fee At cost - Arsenic, Cadmium, Chromium, 

Copper, Lead, Mercury, Molybdenum, 

Nickel, Selenium,  Silver, Zinc 

$13 each 

(per 1991 annexation agreements; only available in certain locations)  

*  fees would only be applied to active building permits that require a replacement meter, ERT holder or pedestal due to contractor damage 
 

SOLID WASTE FEES 
Yard Waste Collection $7.83/month Dumpster Service  

Residential Roll-Out Cart $9.85/month - 4 CY Dumpster $145.86/month 

Commercial Roll-Out Cart $20.62/month - 6 CY Dumpster $173.32/month 

Recycling (Per Bin or Cart) $5.24/month - 8 CY Dumpster $198.85/month 

Bulk items $11/each Bulk Items - Half Load / Full Load $22 / $40 

White Goods $18/each Mattress / Box Spring Disposal* $10 for each item 

*Mattress / Box Spring Disposal charge is in addition to the existing single item bulk fee; $21 minimum 
 

STREET SIGN FEES 
Replacement sign costs    
- Street sign only (1 blade) $37 - Street sign replacement + install $152 

- Street sign only (2 blades) $74 - Stop sign replacement + install $105.75 

- Stop Sign only $28 - Street/Stop sign combination + install $180 

* Original installation of all safety, regulatory, and street signs is the responsibility of the developer prior to plat.  
 

 

  

- Page 43 -



Budget Guide 
 

STORMWATER FEES 

Stormwater fees are effective January 2022. (Tier 5 effective January 1, 2024). Stormwater utility fees are based on the total amount of 

impervious surface on an individual lot or parcel. 

Residential - Detached single-family homes, a duplex, or a manufactured home located on an individual lot or parcel. 

Tier 1: 400-1,500ft2 $1.50 

Tier 2: 1,501-3,000ft2 $5.00 

Tier 3: 3,001-4,000ft2 $7.50 

Tier 4: 4,001ft2 -5,400ft2 $10.00 

Tier 5: >5,400ft2 $5.00 per ERU (Total Impervious Area/2,700ft2 * $5) 

Non-Residential - Parcels that contain more than two residential units, public/private 

institutional buildings, commercial buildings, parking lots, churches, etc. 
$5.00 per ERU (Total Impervious Area/2,700ft2 * $5) 

*ERU (Equivalent Residential Unit) is the GIS analysis of average impervious surface (rooftops, driveways, sidewalks, parking lots) per residential 

property. Approximately 2,700 ft2.  

*Properties with less than 400ft2 of impervious surface are exempt. 
 

WATER & SEWER RATES 

Water Rates Inside Town Limits                               Outside Town Limits 

Water Base Charge $6.00 $12.00 

Water Volumetric Rates (per 1,000 gallons)   

              Commercial $4.42 $8.84 

               Residential                                          Tier 1: 0 - 6,000 gal  $4.42 $8.84 

Tier 2: 6,001 - 12,000 gal  $5.09 $10.18 

Tier 3: > 12,000 gal  $6.85 $13.70 

*Farmpond Area: Per Interlocal Agreements with the Town of Cary, the Apex special published rate shall be based on the Cary published residential 

base rate and per thousand gallons plus an Apex charge of $2 per thousand gallons.” 

Wholesale Water Base Charge                            $5.45 6.00 Wholesale Water Volumetric Rates (per 1,000 gallons) $4.09 4.42 

Sewer Rates Inside Town Limits Outside Town Limits 

Sewer Base Charge $11.18 $22.36 

Sewer Volumetric Rates (per 1,000 gallons)   

Commercial & Residential $7.75 $15.50 

Colvin Park/White Oak *  $12.55 N/A 

*Per the Alternative Sewer Agreement, “the Apex special published rate shall be based on the Cary published residential rate per thousand gallons plus 

an Apex charge of $2 per thousand gallons.” 

Wholesale Sewer Base Charge                           $11.18 Wholesale Sewer Volumetric Rates (per 1,000 gallons) $7.75 

Flat Rate Sewer                                                    $40.00/month                     

Irrigation Rates Inside Town Limits Outside Town Limits 

Irrigation Base Charge $6.00 $6.00 

Irrigation Volumetric Rates (per 1,000 gallons) $6.59 $13.18 

Bulk Water 

Hook Up Fee (per connection) $12 Hydrant meter  

Volumetric Rates (per 1,000 gallons) $7.20 - Set up/Relocate/Pickup $50/event 

  - Rental Fee $12/day 

  - Hydrant Meter replacement and/or repair At cost + 10% 

 

ELECTRIC RATES 

Service Base Charge Energy Charge (per kWh) All 

Residential  $26.38 $.0994 

Service Base Charge Energy Charge (per kWh) ALL 

Small General Service $28.50 $0.1019 

Service Base Charge 

Energy Charge (per kW) 

On Peak Off Peak 
Bilateral Credit 

On Peak 

Bilateral Credit 

Off Peak 

Residential-Time of Use-TOU $26.38 $0.2057 $0.0546 $0.1375 $0.0327 

Small General Service-TOU $28.50 $0.2048 $0.0564 $0.1368 $0.0326 

Service Base Charge Energy Charge (per kWh) ALL Demand Charge (per kW) ALL 

Medium General Service $90.00 $0.0780 $8.20 

Medium General Service-TOU $90.00 $0.0739 $12.25 

Large General Service $175.00 $0.0622 $11.00 

Large General Service-TOU $175.00 $0.0607 $12.75 

 

 

 

 

   
- Page 44 -



Budget Guide 
 

Service Base Charge Energy Charge (per kWh) ALL 

Demand Charge (per kW) 

All Coincident 

Demand 
All Excess Demand 

Large General Service-Coincident Peak $350.00 $0.0476 $21.00 $4.19 

 

ELECTRIC RATES 

Outdoor Lighting 

Standard Lighting Service Basic Rate The basic rate does not include the monthly charges for additional facilities, outdoor lighting poles, 

underground service, or any contribution required under this Schedule.    

Sodium Vapor Units* Obsolete – no longer installed Wattage Monthly Charge Monthly kWh 

5,800 lumen-semi  70 $8.230/Fixture 29/Fixture 

9,500 lumen-semi 100 $9.15/Fixture 46/Fixture 

9,500 lumen-enclosed/post/flood 100 $10.42/Fixture 46/Fixture 

27,500 lumen-enclosed 250 $18.67/Fixture 99/Fixture 

27,500 lumen flood 250 $19.86/Fixture 109/Fixture 

50,000 lumen-enclosed  400 $25.17/Fixture 152/Fixture 

50,000 lumen flood 400 $27.55/Fixture 168/Fixture 

LED Units    

Acorn Fixture (Obsolete, no new installs) 51 $19.36/Fixture 29/Fixture 

Shoebox – 1 61 $12.17/Fixture 29/Fixture 

Shoebox – 2 151 $19.57/Fixture 29/Fixture 

Area Light      51 $8.71/Fixture 29/Fixture 

Cobrahead – 1 51 $11.38/Fixture 29/Fixture 

Cobrahead – 2 151 $17.51/Fixture 29/Fixture 

Lantern – 1 w/ Lens (Obsolete, no new installs) 51 $15.19/Fixture 29/Fixture 

Lantern – 2 w/o Lens 51 $18.29/Fixture 29/Fixture 

Special Contract Lights (residential dedicated public streets outside corporate limits) Monthly Charge 

Wood $ 2.51/pole $2.51/pole 

18’ Fiberglass 

Square metal 

$ 3.51/pole 

$13.01/pole 

$3.51/pole 

$13.01/pole 

*Maintenance only; no new installs    

Underground (UG) Service: For Underground service, the monthly bill will be increased by $3.50 per pole or, in lieu thereof, a one-time contribution of 

$175.17 per pole.  The monthly UG charge, if selected, may be terminated at any time upon payment by Customer of the one-time contribution.  The UG 

charge will be waived if the lighting facilities are installed during the installation of the main electric facilities.  The monthly pole charge defined below will 

also be applicable to underground service. 

Additional Facilities 

1. Multiple area lighting fixtures may be installed per pole subject to town review and approval. The monthly charge for each additional fixture will be the 

charge in accordance with the Monthly Rate for that fixture.  
 

 

 

VENDOR FEES 

Obtain Permit from the Town of Apex Police Department 

Solicitor/Peddler/Park Concessioner* Transient/Mobile Food Vendors 

 30-day Permit $50 Annual Permit $150 

 90-day Permit $100 *Anyone selling anything, including food, in a Town of Apex Park 

must obtain a Park Concessions Permit.  180-day Permit (Park Concessions Only) $175 

 Solicitor - Anyone going door-to-door to take orders for products, share information or seek donations. 

 Peddler – Anyone transporting goods door-to-door for sale (i.e. ice cream truck). 

 Park Concessioner – Anyone selling merchandise, food, and or beverages in a town park. 

 Transient Vendor - Anyone selling goods or services from a temporary business location (i.e. parking or vacant lot). 

 Mobile Food Vendor - Anyone selling food and/or beverages from a readily movable food unit 
 

 

 

 

FIRE DEPARTMENT FEES  

Submit request and fees to Customer Service 

Inspection Fees $0 False Alarm Fines (per Calendar Year) 

Reinspection (charged for 2nd and all subsequent reinspections) $75 4 false alarms $150 

Fire Inspections Violation Fines:  5 false alarms $200 

Imminent hazard violation $250 6 + false alarms $250 each 

Hazardous Materials Consumable Items At Cost Fire Flows $75 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 - Page 45 -



Budget Guide 
 

PARKS & RECREATION 
Fees are paid to Parks & Recreation 

Withdrawal₁    

Cancellation  

- Less than 7 business days prior to rental No credit or refund in any amount excluding rental deposit1 

- 7-59 business days prior to rental 50% refund2 

- 60 or more business days prior to rental 90% refund2 

Date Change Request  

- Less than 7 business days prior to rental No date change requests accepted1 

- 7 or more business days prior to rental3 All fees and deposits may be transferred4 

1. Including rentals made within 7 business days of the rental date 

2. Issued upon written request 

3. Reschedule dates may occur no later than 30 calendar days from original. 

4. Subject to room availability and the availability of required staff. 

 Resident Non-Resident  Resident Non-Resident 

Fishing Licenses   Senior Exercise Membership 

(55+) 

$0 for unlimited $10 for 20 visits 

 12 years & under $0 $10/year Splash Pad Session Pass (2 hours) $2 $4 

 13-54 years old $0 $25/year Open Gym Pass - Basketball/Volleyball/Senior Pickleball (for 10 visits) 

 55 + $0 $6/year  Age 0-7 $0 $5 

 Guest Pass $0 $5/visit  Age 8-17 $5 $20 

Dog Park Passes  Age 18-54 $10 $30 

 Single Dog $30 $60  Age 55+ $0 $20 

 Multiple Dogs $50 $100 Vessel Permits (Jan – Dec) $5/year $40/year 

 Additional Passes $10/pass $10/pass    

Pleasant Park Tournament Packages Package Cost 

Full Day Event (cost per field)   $650/day 

Additional field preparation   $100/field 

Use of Scoreboard (cost per field)   $100/day 

Use of Team Rooms (cost per room)   $100/day 

Use of Referee Room   $50/day 

Signature Field 4-Hr Game Package   $400 

Pickleball Event all-day Rental (6 courts)   $650/day 

Facility Rentals 
All reservations for 100 persons or more require Director approval and may require additional attendants, police and other requirements as deemed necessary by APRCR 

 Resident Non-Resident Other Amenity Rentals Continued Resident Non-Resident 

Facility Deposit (Refundable) $250 $250 Disc Golf Course (full day) $250 $375 

Amphitheater Deposit (Refundable)        $200 $200 Amphitheater (1/2 day) $125 $190 

After Hours Attendant Fee $40/hour $40/hour Amphitheater (whole day) $250 $375 

Community Center   Extra Table Fee $3/table $3/table 

Summit Room $35/hour  $52.50/hour  Halle Cultural Arts Center   

Summit Room Projector Fee $15/hour $15/hour Auditorium    $100/hour    $150/hour 

Pinnacle Room $35/hour $52.50/hour Sound/Light Booth    $50/hour    $75/hour 

Zenith Room $35/hour $52.50/hour Overnight Storage $50/night $75/night 

Catering Kitchen3  $21/hour $31.50/hour  Studio Gallery $50/hour  $75/hour  

Arts & Crafts Room $21/hour $31.50/hour  Studio A $35/hour  $52.50/hour  

Senior Center Piano (separate $200 deposit required) $25/hour $37.50/hour 

Salem Meeting Room (108)  $100/hour $150/hour Portable Projector Fee $15/hour $15/hour 

Saunders Meeting Room (110)  $100/hour $150/hour 4 Hour Auditorium Package $600 $900 

Seaboard Meeting Room (112)  $100/hour $150/hour 4 Hour Gallery Package $400 $600 

Projector Fee (108,110 or 112)   $15/hour $15/hour Field & Gym Rentals6   

Large Projector (108,110 & 112)   $30/hour $30/hour Athletic Field – natural turf (no lights)  $40/hour $40/hour 

Kitchen Room (120)   $30/hour $45/hour Athletic Field – natural turf (w/ lights)  $60/hour $60/hour 

Chatham Classroom (131)   $35/hour     $52.50/hour Athletic Field – synthetic turf (no lights)*   $75/hour $75/hour 

Friendship Classroom (133) $35/hour  $52.50/hour Athletic Field – synthetic turf (w/ lights)      $95/hour $95/hour 

Arts & Crafts Room (202) $35/hour  $52.50/hour Gym - Whole $75/hour $75/hour 

Hunter Exercise Room (210) $30/hour  $45/hour Shelter Rentals   

Hughes Exercise Room (215) $30/hour  $45/hour Apex Community Park – small      $20/hour $30/hour 

Salem, Saunders & Seaboard $1,200/4 hours     $1,500/4 hours Apex Community Park – large $30/hour $40/hour 

Pleasant Park   Hunter Street Park – small $20/hour $30/hour 

Pleasant Park Meeting Room $35/hour $52.50/hour  Jaycee Park – small $20/hour $30/hour 

Other Amenity Rentals   Kelly Road Park – small $20/hour $30/hour 

Tennis Courts  $15/hour/court  $22.50/hour/court  Nature Park – small $20/hour $30/hour 

Pickleball Courts $15/hour/court $22.50/hour/court Nature Park – large $30/hour $40/hour 

Sand Volleyball Court $15/hour/court $22.50/hour/court Pleasant Park Amenity Shelter - large $30/hour $40/hour 

Disc Golf Course $45/hour $67.50/hour Pleasant Park Shelter - large $30/hour $40/hour 

Disc Golf Course (1/2 day) $125 $190 Seagroves Farm Park - small $20/hour $30/hour 
 

 

 

 

 

- Page 46 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CONSENT AGENDA 

 Meeting Date: October 24, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Craig Setzer, Director 

Department(s): Parks, Recreation, and Cultural Resources 

Requested Motion 

Motion to approve an Ordinance Amendment amending Chapter 15 Parks and Recreation, Section 15-6 of 

the Town Code to include Pleasant Park opening and closing times.    

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

With the approaching grand opening of Pleasant Park operating hours need to be established per Town 

Ordinance.  In an effort to be consistent with our larger Town Parks we are recommending that Pleasant 

Park operate 6:30am until 10:00pm daily.   

 

Attachments 

 CN4-A1: Ordinance - Chapter 15 Parks and Recreation, Section 15-6 - Pleasant Park Hours of 
Operation 
 

 

 

- Page 47 -



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-0808-__ 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 15-6  

OF APEX TOWN CODE  
  

 THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 

APEX AS FOLLOWS: 

 Section 1.  Subsection (a) of Section 15-6 of the Town of Apex Code of Ordinances is 

hereby amended to read as follows with additions shown as bold underlined text and deletions 

shown as strikethrough text: 

Sec. 15-6. Opening and closing town parks; remaining in parks after closing; 

forfeiture of right to use park.  

(a) Parks shall be open to the public daily during the times specified in this section. 

These times may be extended to accommodate programs offered by the town at 

the direction of the director of parks, recreation and cultural resources. Provided, 

however, the director of parks, recreation and cultural resources may close one or 

more parks or recreational facilities temporarily at any time if in the director's 

judgment a sufficient reason exists on account of severe weather or other 

emergency that would endanger persons using these facilities. 

(1) Apex Community Park, Apex Jaycee Park, Hunter Street Park, Kelly Road 

Park, Pleasant Park, Salem Pond Park, Nature Park and Seymour 

Athletic Fields: 

6:30 a.m. until 10:00 p.m. 

Provided, however, the Rogers Family Skate Plaza located within the 

Hunter Street Park shall be open year round, 24 hours a day. These 

extended hours shall apply exclusively to the Rogers Family Skate Plaza 

and no other areas of Hunter Street Park. Also provided that Apex 

Community Park shall be open for purposes of public boating pursuant to 

subsection 15-7(l) and fishing pursuant to subsection 15-7(q) on the pond 

therein from 6:30 a.m. until sunset, as defined by the National Weather 

Service, unless otherwise ordered by the director of parks, recreation and 

cultural resources. 

(2) Clairmont Park: 

Sunrise until 9:00 p.m. 

(3) Seagrove's Farm Park: 

6:30 a.m. until 9:00 p.m. 

- Page 48 -

https://library.municode.com/nc/apex/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH15PARE_S15-7RUREILAC
https://library.municode.com/nc/apex/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH15PARE_S15-7RUREILAC


(4) West Street Park, Sue Helton Park, Kelly Glen Park, and all other town 

parks not listed above: 

Sunrise until Sunset 

 

Section 2.  It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances and the 

sections of this ordinance may be renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 Section 3.  Severability, Conflict of Laws.  If this ordinance or application thereof to 

any person or circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or 

applications of the ordinance which can be given separate effect and to the end the provisions of 

this ordinance are declared to be severable.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with 

this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section 4.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be effective November 4, 2023. 

  

 

Introduced by Council Member: _____________________________________ 

 Seconded by Council Member:   _____________________________________ 

 This the 24th day of October, 2023. 

 

        ____________________________ 

        Jacques K. Gilbert 

        Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________________ 

Allen L. Coleman, CMC, NCCCC 

Town Clerk 

  

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

____________________________ 

Laurie L. Hohe 

Town Attorney 

- Page 49 -



Proclamation 
  American Indian Heritage Month 2023 

from the Office of the Mayor 

WHEREAS, Since 1990, the month of November has been designated as 
American Indian Heritage Month, and the Town of Apex acknowledges it as a time 
to celebrate the rich cultural heritage and traditions of American Indian 
communities; and, 

WHEREAS, Present-day North Carolina is situated on ancestral lands that 
Indigenous people have called home for more than 12,000 years; and, 

 WHEREAS, North Carolina is home to eight state-recognized tribes, which 
include the Coharie, Eastern Band of Cherokee, Haliwa-Saponi, Lumbee, Meherrin, 
Occaneechi Band of the Saponi Nation, Saponny, and Waccamaw-Siouan; and, 

 WHEREAS, We also acknowledge North Carolina’s four urban American Indian 
Organizations, consisting of the Triangle Native American Society, the Cumberland 
County Association for Indian People, and the Guilford and Metrolina Native 
American Associations; and, 

 WHEREAS, The Town of Apex is proud to be home to members of the American 
Indian Community, and we will continue to celebrate and cherish their culture, 
contributions, and character. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Jacques K. Gilbert, Mayor of Apex, North Carolina, do 
hereby proclaim the month of November 2023, “American Indian Heritage Month” in 
the Town of Apex, and encourage all residents to take time to learn more about the 
rich history and culture of the communities who have made these lands home for 
thousands of years. 

I hereby set my hand and have caused the Seal of the Town of Apex,  
North Carolina, to be affixed this the 24th day of October 2023 

 

 

Jacques Gilbert, Mayor 

- Page 50 -



Proclamation 
  Italian American Heritage Month 2023 

from the Office of the Mayor 

WHEREAS, The Town of Apex is recognizing the month of October 2023 as 
Italian American Heritage and Culture Month, which first received national 
recognition in 1989 with the first proclamation issued by the United States Congress 
and Former President George H. W. Bush; and, 

WHEREAS, Italian heritage is richly entwined in the history of the United States. 
Italians and individuals of Italian descent have made remarkable contributions to the 
development of this country; and, 

 WHEREAS, Italian Americans make up the fifth largest ethnic groups in the 
country and the United States has been fortified by the talents and culture of its 
residents of Italian descent; and, 

 WHEREAS, the Town of Apex is home to a proud and vibrant Italian American 
community that has undoubtedly impacted culture and industry by influencing the 
arts and education, business and government, social service, and scientific and 
technological advancements near and far; and,  

WHEREAS, October has been designated Italian American Heritage Month to 
celebrate the cultural heritage, achievements, and contributions Italian Americans 
have made in Apex, in North Carolina, and across the country.  

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Jacques K. Gilbert, Mayor of Apex, North Carolina, do 
hereby proclaim the month of October 2023, “Italian American Heritage Month” in 
the Town of Apex, and encourage all residents to celebrate and observe this month 
with appropriate programs, ceremonies, and activities. 

I hereby set my hand and have caused the Seal of the Town of Apex,  
North Carolina, to be affixed this the 22nd day of October 2023 

 

 

 Jacques Gilbert, Mayor 

- Page 51 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: PUBLIC HEARING 

 Meeting Date: October 24, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Katie Schwing, Senior Planner – Long Range Transit 

Department(s): Planning 

Requested Motion 

Public hearing and possible motion to amend the Transit Plan Map of the Town’s Transportation Plan to add 

routing for Future GoApex Route 1 from North Mason Street to the main entrance of the Apex Senior Center. 

 

Approval Recommended? 

Planning staff recommend adoption of the proposed amendment. 

The Planning Board considered the proposed amendment at their October 9, 2023 meeting and 

unanimously recommended approval. 

The Transit Advisory Committee considered the proposed amendment at their October 11, 2023 meeting 

and unanimously recommended approval. 

 

Item Details 

The amendment to the Transportation Plan would revise the Transit Plan map in order to allow GoApex 

Route 1 to serve the main entrance of the Senior Center. Please see Attachment 1 for additional details.  

 

Attachments 

 PH1-A1: Staff Report - Transit Plan Amendment - Future GoApex Route 1 
 PH1-A2: Planning Board Report to Town Council - Transit Plan Amendment - Future GoApex Route 1 

 PH1-A3: Transit Advisory Committee Report to Town Council - Transit Plan Amendment - Future 
GoApex Route 1 

 

- Page 52 -



STAFF REPORT 
Transportation Plan Amendments 

October 24, 2023 Town Council Meeting  
 

 

Page 1 of 3 Prepared by: Katie Schwing, Senior Planner - Long Range Transit   

The Apex Transportation Plan was developed to provide guidance on what is likely to be suitable to support 
long term growth, connectivity, recreation, and multimodal travel. It includes a Transit Plan map that 
represents current and future public transit and passenger rail facilities in the Town. The Transportation Plan 
does not require a schedule for implementation, nor does it set aside funding for improvements. The purpose 
of the public hearing is to consider proposed amendments to the Transit Plan map in order to make a 
recommendation to Town Council. The Transit Plan map was last amended on February 28, 2023.  
 
The proposed amendment is to add additional routing within the Town Hall campus to the front entrance of the 
Apex Senior Center. Figure 1 shows the proposed change on the Transit plan map, and Figure 2 shows a close-in 
diagram of the proposed amendment along with some additional context. 
 
The proposed amendment shows additional Future GoApex Route 1 routing entering the Apex Town Hall 
campus from N Mason Street, traveling to the Apex Senior Center entrance, turning around through the porte-
cochère, and returning to North Mason Street to connect to the Existing GoApex Route 1 line.  The below inset 
diagram (Figure 2) also shows a temporary routing through the Town Campus area to Hunter Street. This 
temporary routing is provided for context to show how the current GoApex Route 1 service operates in this 
area. This temporary routing will not be served once the permanent bus stop on Mason Street (#1452, N Mason 
St at Old Mill Village Dr (Town Hall) (NB)) reopens and the permanent off-street layover location at the new 
Mason Street Municipal Building is complete. This is currently estimated to be complete in Spring, 2024. Of 
note, the Transit Plan map does not show individual bus stops.  
 

 
Figure 1. Proposed amendments to the Transit Plan map 

- Page 53 -



Page 2 of 3 Prepared by: Katie Schwing, Senior Planner - Long Range Transit   
 

 

 
Figure 2. Close-in diagram of proposed amendment 

 
Programmed Projects: 

If approved, the proposed routing change is intended to be implemented with the GoApex Route 1 service at 

the earliest available service update, coordinated with the Town’s contracted service operator, GoCary. This 

change is not anticipated to have an impact on the cost to Operate GoApex Route 1, as the fixed-route service 

is charged at an hourly rate, and it is expected that the change will be accommodated within the existing route 

run-time. It is also not anticipated to increase costs for the GoApex Door to Door complementary ADA 

paratransit service, as it will not increase its existing service area.  

If approved, Staff plan to install a bus stop sign and bench for public use near the entrance to the Apex Senior 

Center, in coordination with relevant Town departments, and paid for through local funding already included in 

the adopted Capital Improvement Plan, as well as operating and/or bus stop improvement funding awarded 

through the Wake Transit Community Funding Area program. 

Planning Board Recommendation: 

The Planning Board unanimously recommended approval of the proposed amendment during their October 9, 

2023 meeting. 

- Page 54 -



Page 3 of 3 Prepared by: Katie Schwing, Senior Planner - Long Range Transit   
 

Transit Advisory Committee Recommendation: 

The Transit Advisory Committee unanimously recommended approval of the proposed amendment during their 

October 11, 2023 meeting. 

Staff Recommendation: 

Planning staff recommend supporting the proposed amendment. Transportation, Infrastructure and 

Development staff and Parks, Recreation, and Cultural Resources staff are supportive as well.  

 

- Page 55 -



- Page 56 -



- Page 57 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: PUBLIC HEARING 

 Meeting Date: October 24, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Amanda Bunce, Current Planning Manager  

Department(s): Planning 

Requested Motion 

Public Hearing and possible motion regarding amendments to the outdoor lighting standards in the Unified 

Development Ordinance (UDO). 

Approval Recommended? 

The Planning Department recommends approval.  

The Planning Board heard these amendments at their October 9, 2023 meeting and unanimously 

recommended approval. 

Item Details 

Requested by the Apex Environmental Advisory Board and Planning Staff: 

1. Amendments to Sec. 8.6 Exterior Lighting in order to modernize lighting standards for LED lights; 

restrict non-cutoff light fixtures; create standards to reduce backlighting, uplighting, and glare; lower 

the maximum lighting allowed for bicycle parking; change wattage standards to lumens; create 

standards for lighting levels after business hours; and add definitions applicable to this Section. 

Attachments 

 PH2-A1: Staff Report - Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments - October 2023 
 PH2-A2: Planning Board Report to Town Council - Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) 

Amendments - October 2023 

 PH2-A3: Public Notice - Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments - October 2023 

 PH2-A4: Ordinance - Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments - October 2023 
 

- Page 58 -



�

��

��������	
���
����������������������������������������

������� !"� # $�%�&��'�(�����)���*��
�

�

�+,-+./+0�12�/3+��4+5��6789:6;+6/<=��078.:92�>:<90�<60�	=<6686?��/<@@A�

�

�;+60;+6/.�/:��+BC�DCE�FGHIJKLJ�MKNOHKPN�86�:90+9�/:�;:0+968Q+�=8?3/86?�./<60<90.�@:9�R�S�=8?3/.T�9+./98B/�

6:6UB-/:@@�=8?3/�@85/-9+.T�B9+</+�./<60<90.�/:�9+0-B+�1<BV=8?3/86?W�-4=8?3/86?W�<60�?=<9+T�=:X+9�/3+�

;<58;-;�=8?3/86?�<==:X+0�@:9�18B2B=+�4<9V86?T�B3<6?+�X<//<?+�./<60<90.�/:�=-;+6.T�B9+</+�./<60<90.�

@:9�=8?3/86?�=+7+=.�<@/+9�1-.86+..�3:-9.T�<60�<00�0+@868/8:6.�<44=8B<1=+�/:�/38.��+B/8:6C��

�

Y:/+A�%�����������������������������������"����������"����Z��(��[�\"� # !����������������&�����

���������������������"�������������������(�����"�������������������������&����������������

����(���[]�

�

><BV?9:-60A�%����̂�_�������������������[�̀�����a_�̀b���������&��c�*��(�����������������(��

���������&��c����defghijkjil�mng�opqrs�_̂������t�*����*������������������������*����[�������

����������������������u���������������c�vc[������������]�%������_�̀�������&��w�����[�

x�����"�Z����y�������"�����x�����c������]�%���(������������������������(*��[���[�$z!�&c������

���(����������������&��c������������]�%��_�̀����&��������������{������ #  �����

��������������*������������]�v������*�������*����������������������|�������[�����&�(�����������

 # $�&���x������*�����_��������������������������������*���&��c��*����������[��*�&����

����������������(�������������������������]�u��v������ # $"�x������uu�v���[�)�[��

������������rs����������������_�̀�&���&���(����������������������������*����&�������

�������]��

�

}]~� _�%_�u���tuy�%u{y��
�

}]~]\�x(���������u������

�3+�4-94:.+�:@�/38.�
9086<6B+�8.�/:�49:780+�9+?-=</8:6.�@:9�:-/0::9�=8?3/86?�/3</�X8==A�

�

��� 	+9;8/�/3+�-.+�:@�:-/0::9�=8?3/86?�/3</�X8==�3+8?3/+6�68?3//8;+�.<@+/2W�-/8=8/2W�

.+B-98/2W�49:0-B/878/2W�+6�:2;+6/W�<60�B:;;+9B+C�

�

>�� �868;8Q+�<07+9.+�:@@.8/+�8;4<B/.�:@�=8?3/86?�.-B3�<.�=8?3/�/9+.4<..�<60�

:1/9-.87+�=8?3/C�

�

��� �-9/<8=�=8?3/�4:==-/8:6C��

�

S�� �+=4�49:/+B/�X8=0=8@+�<60�3<18/</�@9:;�/3+�<07+9.+�+@@+B/.�:@�68?3/�=8?3/86?C��

�

��� �:6.+97+�+6+9?2�<60�9+.:-9B+.C�

�

%����������������(��������*����*���*�������*����������[��������������["��������(������

�����������(���[����������[���������]�t�*����*����(������������������������

���[��������������������(�"���������������������*��(�����(������(������������"�

�����������"��������*�����*���]�u��������������������������*(�����������������*����*�


-/0::9�=8?3/86?�.3:-=0����(���[�������������&�������������*��*�������������

����(���(����*���������]��

�

- Page 59 -



�

��

��������	
���	������

���������������������������� �!"�#�$� �������%�$��#��&' �(�$�"��������
����)���*�*�

�+��)��)���	
���	�*
������,�-���������������+��)��)���	
���	�������*���)���.��
�������

*-/��**�����0
�*������*
������,�-��1��

��

�2� 3��,�.�,�����*�.�)��
����	
���	�.�+�-)�*�*-,
��*1�������.�-����4,-��..5����6,-��..5�

	��)��*
����*5���,�25�789�#����:;�����*�4<����	��&=��$5���,�25�,�))�������,���)�

�����)��-)���.�����*�4>�����25����,�)�,��������)�?-�)�����*5�-�������,�������

��������5����
����.�<�)��	5�)�-���	@��,�������.�����*5���,�������.���	
�*5�����

��-����	�
��	
�*��A�����:B���:�C�D�&#�$�E#"E"$� �$B����'��B�:B��CC�F���FG��� �

E"$$�$$�HIJ���=E���FB�"�":GK�

�

L2� ����*�.���,������������
���*
�<*�����,���.���6,������,����-)*��)���������

�
������)�,�	)����
�������,���*�.���6,�����������*����*-)������	)�����,)�**��
��

*��������������
������)�,�������*�)�?-�)���.�)�M���)�����M�N�)�3�������*�<��
�

��)���
����<��4�2���	
������*��O�
�)���.�)�������*-,
��*1���+��-�5����)�	�5�

���������-��*����.���6,�����*�����-��.�)�����)�����4���)�	�@�����-�2�*
�-���

��*��/����,�-�����P���6,�����������*�*
����/��*
�<�������������E&'��$B� ������*�C"#�

��FB�C�D�&#����

�

QR� S)�**6*�,����*��.�������	
������)�����)��)��*���������������N�,��������+�*���	�

)�*����������)���)���*�����,����	�
�<������+��)��)���	
���	�4*��������/-�����	�

��-�������	
���	2�<����/����*�	�������������*�������)���	
������,���)����..6*����

	��)��4*���3�,������T�U�T2����,)�**6*�,������-*��$B����/���)�������.�)���,
�

��N�����	�*��	��6.������)�*����������)���)����V
�)���
�����������	�*������N���*�

�-���6.������)�*����������)���)��5�������,���,)�**6*�,������-*��/���)����������

WXXY.��������)���*�����	��
��,�������)���)���������0
��,)�**6*�,����*��-*��

�,,-)������)��)�*�����+�*���	�*��������	)��
���.��
��)�*����������)���)���*5�

*�,����*��.��
��)�*���������-���*5������)���*�������	)��
������

*���@�),
���,�-)����������*�4/-�����	*5�)�������	�<���*5���	
�*5�����*,����

*,)�����	5���,�2��.��
�����������	�*����4*���3�,������T��2��Z���$��"����F�$$�#G��"�

E#" &F��"#�"(�#��G�C""�YF�� ���#�� ��:$�"���B��F#"$$Y$�F��"�� #�[��:$K�\B��

��������$��"�� ����CG��#��$�[B�#��C�D�&#��E��F�=����=�G����#" &F��E"��������

:��#���� �#�]&�#��=���:���"���B#"&:B�$B��� ��:��C�=���:���"���$��"��E#"(� � �

�B#"&:B�E#"��F�� �"#�E#"E"$� �(�:�����"�K�

�

U2� ����,�)��.�,������/������,��*�����	
���	��)�.�**������
�����	��
��̂5��S5��)�S�̂�

,�)��.�,�������)�*�����)�,�)��.�,�������
�������,���*��)�.�,���,������
����*�	���.�

�-����)���	
���	5�����	
���	����-.�,�-)�)5��)��
����,������,�)�,�-��������0
��

_̀abcdc_ebcfg�hijb�k̀acdl�bmeb�bm̀�noegj�h̀ b̀�bm̀�pfqgrj�s̀jctg�àuicàh̀ gbj�

�������-���������*�����)�*���

�

�

����v�w��-���������3�����)�*��

��

AR� 0
����/��*�/���<�*���.�)�
�*�����)�*�.�)���	
���	������*����/�*���-�����
�������

-*���)��,�����������������x��-�*��)���)�*�����������������.���6,�����*����*-)������

	)�����3������	
���	�*
���������+,�����
�*�������������)�	��.���6,�����������*��

���)�	�����-�*��-*��/��,��,-������-*��	��
�������*�.�-���<��
����
����	
����

�)��y�.�)��+�����5�����)z��	������-*��/��,��,-������-*��	��
�������*�.�-���<��
���

�
��,-)/����,-)/��)���������)z��	��)���������\B�� �(��"E�#�$B����E#"(� ���B��

��=��"C��B��$"C�[�#��E#":#�=�&$� ��"� ���#=�����B����:B���:�E�#�=���#$��$�

- Page 60 -



�

��

���������	���
������	�����������������	�������������
������������
���������

���������	����������	�������
����

��

���������� !�"#$%&#'$�(&�')�*)+�,-*�.�'�*���/�*0#'$�1#&%�/�)�+&*#�'�2*��+�3#'#&#���,--&�4�')��+5��

6+���
7-*#8-'&���

9��:;#'�'4��2<���$��

6'#,-*;#&=�>�&#-�

32<�*�$�?;#'#;:;5�

��@:�&#�,�;#�=�*�+#)�'&#���-*�4-')-;#'#:;�3+&�40�)�

,��&5��

A�B��� �? �

��>�&�#��� A�B��� A? �

C�D,,#4���

C�9'):+&*#����

C�E):4�&#-'����

C�F:�&:*��G�4#<#4G��')�*�4*��&#-'����

C�F%:*4%�-*�H��4��-,�1-*+%#H��

C��-1'%-;�+��')�-&%�*��&&�4%�)�*�+#)�'&#����

I�B�� A? �

�

����������I!�D&%�*�EJ&�*#-*�"#$%&#'$�(&�')�*)+�3#'#&#���,--&�4�')��+5��

"-4�&#-'��
7-*#8-'&���

9��:;#'�'4��2<���$��

6'#,-*;#&=�>�&#-�

32<�*�$�?;#'#;:;5�

KL#&����-4�&#-'+�3�'&*=?�J#&�)--*+G�+�*<#4���*��+G�

2�@+G��#4=4���H�*0#'$G��&4�5��

M�N�� A? �

O������P��Q���� R�B� STU�

(#)�1��0+��  �N� A? �

L�%#4:��*�:+���*���-&%�*�&%�'�H�*0#'$�3+�*<#4���*��+G�

)*#<�+��')��HH*-�4%�1�=+G�H*#<�&���44�++�*-�)+G��&4�5�

 �N� A? �

(&-*�$��=�*)+�� A�N� A? �

"-�)#'$?:'�-�)#'$�)-40+��')�H��&,-*;+��  M�N� A? �

2:&-�+���+�=�*)?�'4�-+�)�-:&)--*�)#+H��=��  N�N� �? �

.�'�*���*�4*��&#-'����*��+�3,#��)+KKG�H��=$*-:')+G�

4-:*&+KKG�H--�+5��

 N�N� A? �

K2<�*�$��#'#&#�����<��+�,-*�<#&����-4�&#-'+�+%�������$�'�*���=���+�)�-'��'��*��� N�,��&��=� N�,��&�-*�

&%���#;#&+�-,�&%��+H�4#,#4��*�����

KK(�������A�9�V�,-*�+H�4#,#4��J4�H&#-'+�&-�&%#+�+&�')�*)���

��

W5� XYZY[�\]̂_][̀ab[]��

�%��4-**���&�)�4-�-*�&�;H�*�&:*��3FF�5�-,���;H+�#'��J&�*#-*��#$%&#'$�+%����'-&�

�J4��)�cGMNN�d��<#'+��2&%��&#4�,#��)��#$%&#'$�+%��������J�;H&�,*-;�&%#+�

*�e:#*�;�'&���

�

����A�f�+#$'�>�e:#*�;�'&+��

EJ&�*#-*��#$%&#'$G�+:4%��+�&%�&�:+�)�#'��')��*-:')��:#�)#'$+G�*�4*��&#-'��*��+G�H�*0#'$��-&+G�

�')�+#$'+G�+%�������)�+#$'�)�&-�H*�<�'&�&%���J4�++#<��+H#��-<�*�-,��#$%&�-'&-��)g�4�'&�

H*-H�*&#�+��9&�+%������+-����)�+#$'�)�&-�H*-&�4&��$�#'+&�$��*��-'&-�H:��#4�*#$%&+�-,�1�=�

&%�*��=�#;H�#*#'$�&%��<#+#-'�-,�;-&-*#+&+��')��)<�*+��=�#;H�4&#'$��)g-#'#'$�H*-H�*&#�+��

2����J&�*#-*��#$%&#'$�+%�������+%#��)�)�,*-;��)g�4�'&�H*-H�*&#�+��=��J#+&#'$�<�$�&�&#-'G�

&%#40��<�*$*��'�<�$�&�&�)��:,,�*+G���*;+G�1���+G�-*�,�'4�+G��')?-*�&%��:+��-,�)#*�4&#-'���

�#$%&#'$G��#$%&#'$�+%#��)+G�+H�4#���,#J&:*�+G�&#;#'$�)�<#4�+G��HH*-H*#�&���#$%&�#'&�'+#&#�+G�

�:;#'�*#�+G��')�;-:'&#'$+��&��HH*-H*#�&��%�#$%&+��EJ&�*'����')?-*�#'&�*'���+%#��)+��*��

*�e:#*�)�-'������#$%&+�#'�<�%#4:��*�:+���*��+��')��#$%&+�;-:'&�)�&-��:#�)#'$+�1%�*��&%�=�

�*��#;;�)#�&��=��)g�4�'&�&-�*�+#)�'&#���:+�+�3+:4%��+���-'$�&%���)$�+�-,�H�*0#'$��-&+�-*�

- Page 61 -



�

��

������	�����
�������������	������������������	���������������������	�������
������
����

�����������
�����������	����������	��	����

��

��� ��������� !��"�#��

$��	�������
������%�������
�������	������	&�������	���	�������	����
���
���

�
�����������''��'��������������(��������)���������*����+�,�-�.�&����������������

�
����������������
�����

��

/�� /+��������0�����	��������12���33����
���)����*����+�,�4�5�-�6��

��

-��78� 9:��������0�����	�����;<==�><?@;;�;AB?<CDE�)����*����+�,�4�5�9�F�DB>DG?�HE�

E?H?DI�D=EDJKDCD�AL�?KAE�MD>?A@L��N
��
���
�����;<==���������
���;AB?<CDE�

�������
��'��������������O����	��������������
�����
�P���������	�����P�

�	Q����������	Q�����������	�������'��'��������
�������	������	�����	����

�����(��������������R����	��P�*����+�,�-�.���S@<ED(EAID�EKAD=IE�HCD�

CDT<ACDI�UHEDI�@L�>C@EE(ED>?A@LE�?@�HV@AI�W=HCD�GC@I<>DI�UX�=HYG�

E@<C>DE�?KH?�AE�VAEAU=D�;C@Y�?KD�DIWD�@;�CDEAIDL?AH=�U<A=IALWZE8�HLI�L@?�

;<==X�EKAD=IDI�UX�DBAE?ALW�@C�GC@G@EDI�VDWD?H?A@L�EK@JL�@L�?KD�

=HLIE>HGD�G=HL[�

�

9��\8� ]��������
���
������������	������
������
�	����	��������������	�

�����	����
��������
���
�����
���%����&�'���&���	���P�����������
���

��''�������������������R����	�����������
�����
�)������

�

- Page 62 -



�

��

�
�������	
�
�
������������������������������������������

�

�

��� ����� �!�

�

"�� #$$�%&'(%%)�$*+,'*-+�.*/'&)01�1,2$$�30�$%42'0(�2�5*-*5&5�%.�"6�.00'�.)%5�2�

7)%70)'8�%)�)*+,'9%.9:28�$*-0;�2-(�1,%&$(�30�<07'�%&'�%.�2-(�2'�$021'�':%�

=>��.00'�2:28�.)%5�2-8�)0?&*)0(�70)*50'0)�%)�1')00'14270�3&..0);�2-(�')00�

12@0�2)02A��

��

>�� B,0�$28%&'�%.�$*+,'*-+�1,2$$�30�(01*+-0(�1%�',2'�7%$01�(%�-%'�*-'0).0)0�:*',�

%',0)�0$050-'1�%.�',0�277)%@0(�1*'0�1&4,�21�')001;�$2-(1427*-+;�2-(�

72)<*-+A�C-�+0-0)2$;�7�%$01�1,%&$(�D�E���30�<07'�2'�$021'�>6�.00'�2:28�.)%5�

',0�')&-<�%.�2-8�$2)+0�'870�')00�2-(�2'�$021'�"6�.00'�2:28�.)%5�',0�')&-<�

%.�2-8�152$$�'870�')00F���G�H�����GED�D�I�����������E������J���G����

�����K���D�����D�������ED��EL���E���H�EG��GE�A��

��

M�� N*+,'*-+�.%)�%&'(%%)�(*17$28�2)021;�1&4,�21�2&'%�(02$0)1,*71;�5&1'�30�

$%42'0(�*-1*(0�',0�*$$&5*-2'0(�2)02�%)�-%�5%)0�',2-�"6�.00'�2:28�.)%5�

',0�%&'1*(0�0(+0�%.�',0�*$$&5*-2'0(�2)02�1%�',2'�',0�25%&-'�%.�(*)04'�

+$2)0�2-(�',0�@*1&2$�.*0$(�%.�@*0:�(%01�-%'�7)010-'�2�12.0'8�,2O2)(�'%�',0�

7211*-+�5%'%)*1'A��

��

- Page 63 -



�

��

�
�������	
�
�
����������������������������������������

��

���  !"#$%&"%'!()*+$%&�,-./(%$0$)$%1��

�����������2������������3��������������������4����5����3���6������������������

3���������������7����5����������8�����������9�����������3��������������3�����

������������������������������7����5��������
���������2����������������6����3��

����������������������5���������������������5����3��������������3���:9����:�

3��6�9������������������3���4�
�;�����������2������������������������������3��������

5����������������������3��������5�������������������������7����5���
�������

����������6��������������3����
��

��

��� +/$))-<&!�=$>#%�(?@�A)(!&�,-?%!-)��

�

B�� ;��������������������������3�������������������������������������5�2�5�5�

����5��������5�����������������������C���������������������������������������

�2�����D
E��������8����������������������������B
D��������8���������C

������������������������3����������C��C6��
��

�

F�� G��C�����������������������3�������������������5�����������C������������

������6���������������55�����������8�����������8�������������������

- Page 64 -



�

��

���������	
����������������	�������������������������	�����������������

	�����	�����������������
�

�

��� ������������	�	����������������������������	����������	�	 �

�

!�� ������������	��	�������������������������������	���������	���	������������

������������������"�����������"���������	������������������	���	�����

�������������������������������	�����	�����������������	���������	���
�#���

	�����	���	�������������������	�$������	������������������%�	����������������

���������������������	������������������	
�&�������������������	�����	����

��������%���	�������������������������������������������������	���������

���������	
�

�

'(� )**�+,-./012�234**�51�234**�51�+/**6�23,1*7178�+/**�9/.:++�.6;1�+,-./012�<,.3�

4�9:=914*17�*4>;?*,@3.�2:/0918�1-91;.�42�:.310<,21�2.4.17�<,.3,=�.3,2�

A19.,:=B�

�

C(� DEFGHIJKLM�NOHIJKLM�EPQ�RHEST�UDNRV�

W31�.3011�9:>;:=1=.2�:+�XYZ�04.,=@2�401�54217�:=�[\A�W] _̂̀ âb�

cdefghigjk�lminngogpiqgrh�stnqkf�orj�ueqvrrj�defghigjknw�ojrf�qxk�

[**/>,=4.,=@�\=@,=110,=@�A:9,1.68�42�4>1=717�y211�z,@/01�{B|B}B~(B�W31�

04.,=@�262.1>�,2�422,@=17�4��4*/1�51.<11=�a�4=7�̀�+:0�1493�9:>;:=1=.�

<,.3�*:<10�=/>5102�,=7,94.,=@�*122�*,@3.�,=�4�@,�1=�7,019.,:=B��

�

4(� X49�*,@3.�yX(�9014.12�*,@3.�.012;422�:=.:�47�491=.�2,.12B�W31�X�

04.,=@�499:/=.2�+:0�.31�4>:/=.�:+�*,@3.�a�.:��a�71@0112��10.,94*�

+0:>�.31�@0:/=7�,=�.31�7,019.,:=�:;;:2,.1�+0:>�.31�4014�

,=.1=717�.:�51�*,.B�\-91;.�42�:.310<,21�2.4.17�,=�.3,2�A19.,:=8�.31�

>4-,>/>�;10>,..17�549�*,@3.�yX(�04.,=@�234**�51���

�

y,(� C�+:0�+,-./012�*:94.17�'a�+11.�:0�*122�+0:>�4�;/5*,9�0,@3.̂

:+̂<46B�

�

y,,(� '�+:0�+,-./012�*:94.17�'a�+11.�:0�*122�+0:>�.31�;0:;10.6�

*,=1�:+�4�012,71=.,4*�/21�:0�4��494=.�;0:;10.6�,=�4�

012,71=.,4*��:=,=@�7,2.0,9.B��

�

5(� Y;*,@3.�yY(�9:=.0,5/.12�.:�40.,+,9,4*�2�6�@*:<B�W31�Y�04.,=@�

71+,=12�.31�4>:/=.�:+�*,@3.�,=.:�.31�/;;10�31>,2;3101��a�.:�_{a�

71@0112��10.,94*�+0:>�.31�@0:/=7B�\-91;.�42�:.310<,21�2.4.17�,=�

.3,2�A19.,:=8�.31�>4-,>/>�;10>,..17�/;*,@3.�yY(�04.,=@�,2�a8�

2,=91�4**�+,-./012�23:/*7�51�+/**�9/.:++B�

�

9(� Z*401�yZ(�,2�.31�9:>;:=1=.�:+�*,@3.�.34.�94=�51�4==:6,=@�:0�

�,2/4**6�7,245*,=@B�W31�Z�04.,=@�499:/=.2�+:0�.31�4>:/=.�:+�+0:=.�

*,@3.�4=7�549�*,@3.�|a�.:��a�71@0112��10.,94*�+0:>�.31�@0:/=7B�

\-91;.�42�:.310<,21�2.4.17�,=�.3,2�A19.,:=8�.31�>4-,>/>�

;10>,..17�@*401�yZ(�04.,=@�234**�51��

�

y,(� _�+:0�+,-./012�*:94.17�'a�+11.�:0�*122�+0:>�4�;/5*,9�0,@3.̂

:+̂<46B�

�

- Page 65 -



�

��

����� ����	���
��	����������������	������	�������	��	���

���������	�������������	�����������	��	��������

	��������������������	������

�
����	����� �!�"#$�%������&����

�

'(� )*++*,-./0123�

45678�9:;�<:<=>?@:99�9AB@?;C8�8D5EE�<:@�CB>CCF�GHH�I5@@8J�45678�9:;������>?@=:99�

9AB@?;C8�8D5EE�<:@�CB>CCF�KLH�I5@@8�MNON��������J�

�

P(� QRSTUSV,W�XYZRVU�[ZRV+-U�\S]+RY-̂�*VU�_̀ -̀V+�aS,b+SV,��

4AcD@A<c�8D5EE�<:@�dC�6:?<@CF�@:�d?AEFA<c8�:;�?8CF�@:�AEE?6A<5@C�d?AEFA<c8�:;�:@DC;�

8A@C�9C5@?;C8�?<EC88�577;:eCF�58�A<@Cc;5E�CEC6C<@8�:<�@DC�FCeCE:76C<@�7E5<J�

4AcD@A<c�IAEE�<:@�dC�577;:eCF�?<EC88�@DC�EAcD@�9AB@?;C8�5;C�>5;C9?EEf�8CEC>@CFg�

E:>5@CFg�5A6CFg�5<F�8DACEFCF�8:�@D5@�EAcD@�A8�FA;C>@CF�:<Ef�:<@:�EA6A@CF�75;@8�:9�

@DC�d?AEFA<c�95h5FCg�87C>A6C<�E5<F8>57Cg�5<F�8A@C�9C5@?;C8g�5<F�87AEE:eC;�EAcD@�A8�

6A<A6AiCF�j8CC�5E8:�kC>8J�lJmJnJo�_ỲbS+-̀+RY*TpqS+-�rZst*+SuSTS+vg�lJmJnJw�

qtSTTZx-Y�aS,b+�*VU�XT*Y-�rZV+YZTg�5<F�lJmJnJ'�)*++*,-./0123J�y?AEFA<cg�c;:?<F�

6:?<@CF�9AB@?;C8�5<F�5>>C<@�EAcD@A<c�6?8@�6CC@�@DC�9:EE:IA<c�>;A@C;A5z�

�

G(� 4AcD@8�6?8@�<:@�dC�?8CF�@:�AEE?6A<5@C�C<@A;C�7:;@A:<8�:9�d?AEFA<cj8(g�

E5<F8>57Cg�:;�8A@C�9C5@?;C8J���

�

K(� y?AEFA<c�6:?<@CF�EAcD@8�8?>D�58�I5EE=75>{�5<F�c::8C=<C>{�@f7C�9AB@?;C8�

8D5EE�dC�9?EEf�8DACEFCFg�@;?C������>?@:99�@f7C�9AB@?;C8�j>:<>C5ECF�E567|EAcD@�

8:?;>C(J�}DC�EAcD@A<c�6?8@�dC�FA;C>@CF�F:I<I5;Fg�5<F�@DC�I5@@5cC�

������6?8@�<:@�CB>CCF�~L�I5@@8�ON��������J�

�

- Page 66 -



�

��

��� �����	�
��	�����	����
������		�������������
�����
	��������	��

���������

�����	�������������� ������

���	��������!"#������������	��
�

 ��	$����
��"�

�

%�� ����������������&��������� ������
����������	������������'��������'�

�����	�"���

���	������	����

��
�	�(�"�"'� ������������	����������"�) �
�	�

 ���������'�	��
��	�������	�����&������&�����
�����	�	���
��
���	���

&��	������ �����������������&�������������	��"�

�

!�� *��	��	�	� 
��'�����'�����
��'���	�	�'�����	�

�	�'��
��+'� 
��+��'���������

��	����	�������
��'����������	����		��	��
��	����
�&�
��	��������&�����	��"�

,��	�������
��	����������'���	���	�
���	���	��	���������	������� �
��	��

������ 
������������
���������������&�����	���(�����
���-��"�."/"0")�

1�����	���-�����"�

�

2�� 345564789:;�

<
���
��	���������
���	�&���� ������	����
�
��	�����		�����	��
��	�&�
������

���
������	���

�����	��
�����&��	������ �	����	�����=������
����(�������&�����	���

��
����	��1
�������>����	����������&����
�&���������������&&����
����������

	�����	������
�&���	��������&������"�?������� � 
���
��	���������
���	�&���

� ������	����
�
��	������

���
���������������� ����&����
��&&����
� ���)����	���
�

	�&����������������	��������������	��	���	�	���	�������	����������������	����	��

������	�	�������"��

�

� �� @789:7A8�B5C�DE;�F:E:75AGH5AIJA7JAKJ�F:5CJ�HEA5L7J;��

*��	���� �������&���� ������������	�	�������������
����������

�������	���	���	�����

�����	���	���MNO��0#���		PPQRRR����������������
��	���� ��	�����(���
������


�����������	��� 
�����	�	����		���� �	������&��������������� �������
����

&��&���
���'���������	����������	�	����	��	���	��������� �	����S��������"�

*��	���� �������&���� ������������	�	����������	�������
�����������������	���	�


���	���	�����+�����&�������������	����'�����
��������������������	������

����&������

���	��������������	��
���������
���
�� �T0� ��	�����
������

����������	��������
���
��	�	���������� �	����	����������� �	������&���������

���	��
���������
���
�� �0!� ��	�����
���������	������&�"��

- Page 67 -



�

���

�
��������	
�������������������������������������������������������������� ��!�����"��

����� ���#����

��

� $%�� &'()*+�,-.�/*012*34�5321.�6370*3-7��

������������8�99����9:����:��#����"�������;����:�����
"��:��99����������

����:�:����������9��"�������9����:������:��������������������:�:��

�����:��������������#9�;��<���=9����������"���������##�!����;�:�!��������

���������99��������������:�:�>���?�!�@�8�������;�"�������?�99�8��"����:��:�

�����#����9������������������������������������:�:�A��

��

B%�� C�
����������DEFGG������
"��:��H�������������������������I�������"9�:���

8�������:J�������������������"����%���

��

K%�� C�
����������DEFGG�LM�NOPPMQ�ROPS�PSM�TUVWNUXPWYMYZ[�\]UYM�X̂VPŶ]�

#�"_�����$������������"����:����������!�����9���"����9�#�"_���@�����

��
�����#�"���"�����������8��"�����:������������"�����������������

�9���"����9�#�"_������

��

%̀�� C�
����������DEFGG�8��:������:���:�����:��������������8�������99�?������

����#���;�#9�;����������:���������:����������:����@������������a�����

:��"���99��������������������"���9;�����"��:���#�99�!��9�!�9���������

#�#��;�9��������������
"��:�H�̀�����a"��:9�����������:�����9�

#�#��������

��

�%� ������������99�8���
���������:����9�������������IB%���������������!����

��:����

��

� b%�� c)3d,*2�e24)2,*3(-�5,4313*f�6370*3-7��

������������8�99����9:����:��#����"����������#�!�����"���������"�9��;���;��
"��:�

�99��������������:�:���������������������"���������:��������������������:�:��

�����:�����"��!���"��������<���=9����������"���������##�!����;�:�!��������

���������99��������������:�:�>���?�!�@�8�������;�"�������?�99�8��"����:��:�

����#�#���:�9�������������DEFGG������������������������:�:�A��

- Page 68 -



�

���

�

��� ����	
���	��������������������������������	�����������������������	����

�����������
�����
��	��������
	��	
��� ��

�

!�� ����	
���	���������"#�$%&&#'�(%&)�&)#�*+,-$+.&-/#/01�23+/#�.4,&/43�

5��6��� �7��������	����	
�
������������8�������
������
���5��6���9�����

����	
���5������������	���������������������������	����	
�
����������
��

�����
������
���5��6��� ��

�

��� ����	
���	������������������������������������������
�����������:������

����5
��
;�5��;�����
��������������������	

�	������9������������<�����

��
�������	�����������������������;�
���
����� �=5����8�
���8�����������

5
�5�
�;������	��������������������> ������<�������������
�����������

5
�5�
���� ��

�

?�� @�����������������������	�������������
�������>A>>�5 ��

�

��� B��><�����C;5��B��	���
����������
�D	�
�����������;�5
�5�
�;�������������

5
�8����
��
��������������;�:�����	����������������	
�����:�������>>���������

��
�����������	�� ��

�

E�� =	���������������������5
�5�������������������F����
�=	���8������G�����
�

=����G�����55
�8�����
���:�5
�8����
��
����������������� �B55
�8��������

=5������H���G�
���������
�8�����=����G����@��������=���������@������5��

=������
��
�D	�
�����
���;�5
�5������������������	��������������
������

�����=����������������������5
�8����
��
��������������; ��

��

� I��� JKKLMNOPQRS�TLUNOV�WX�YQXNOVZ�W[�\NV]Q��

7��	��������	������
���
������������������
���������������5�����
��	��������

5
�5�
�;��������
��5����������
���9�
����������
�:��������������	���������
��

5
�������������5�����5
�8��������=�� �̂ _ � B !��̀WKNSPa �C����5
���������������

�����55�;����C�:�����B5����:�����
����5
�8�����������������	��������	������
�

��
�������������������
�����
������5�
������;����������������
��
��8����
������

�
�������
������������
�
�5����������������:����5�
�;��
 ��

��

� @��� JKKLMNOPQNWO�[WX�P�bRVNWOPK�bRcXRPQNWO�dWMeKRf��

�

��� H�������5���������;����5�����
������������:9���������
��
����������	���

��������������
�����	������=�� �̂ E�gfQRXNWX�\NV]QNOV �=�
	��	
����
������

����	55�
�������	�����������5�
��������������������	����
��	�������

�	�����9��	���������������9��	�����h	5���9�
�5�����	
���9�����i�5<������

�;�������	������ �

�

!�� @�������������������	����������	����������
��5�
����������	���������9�

�������5�9��
����������	
�� ��

�

��� j	������<�	�������������	������:���<5��6����������<���6��;5������	
���

����������	��;���������9��
	��kl����	������;5������	
����������������5�������

��	
��� �C������������	��������
��������:�:�
�9���������:�������

�lmno��	���������������������>>�:����pqrss��lmno� ��

�

- Page 69 -



�

���

��� ���	�
����������	�������������	�	�
�����������������������	�����

�������������	�����������	�����
�����������������������	��������	�������

������������	
��	�
�������������������	�
�����������������	�	�������	����

������	�
����������	����������������

�

 �� !�	�	���������������	�����	��������������������������	�	�������������

���������	�	���������������������"	�����������������������	�
��������

#����������	�	�
���������	�$��������������	�	��������	������	�	�	�������

��������	�����������������������������	%�����������������������������

���	���	�	�������	��������������	�����������"	�	�����������������

�������������	�	�	�������������������������	���	���������������������

�����������������"���������	%������	����	�����������
����� �&�����'

��������������	����	������	������()�������
�(�	�	����������	
������

* �������

�

+�� ,"��������������������-����.�+���/�012342567�89:154�;:15<=4�>2?<19=@�

A54�BCC=5<�D26E<256��������F�	
��	�
��������	
�������������	
��������

����	�	����

�

G�� H	
�����������������������������������������	��	���������	�$����	�$���������	��

	�����	��������������������	�����	������������	����������	�����������	�	����

!���	�������	
��	�
�������������������	�	�������������������	�
������	
����

��������	�������	�	�
��
���������������������������	�	�	�������

�����������������-����.�G�I���J9:E2K2<=4�L265@���

�

MN� OPQRSPTU�UVWTT�XY�ZSP[\]Y]�RVWR�ŴRP_WR\̀WTTa�YbR\Qĉ\UV�WTT�P̂R]PPS�T\cVR\Qc�

dVYQ�Ûee\̀\YQR�]WaT\cVR�\U�W[W\TWXTY�̂U\Qc�W�̀PQRSPT�]Y[\̀Y�PS�UaURY_�Û V̀�WU�W�

ZVPRPYTỲRS\̀�Ud\R̀Vf�WURSPQP_\̀�R\_Y�Ud\R̀V�PS�Yĝ\[WTYQR�êQ̀R\PQU�eSP_�W�

ZSPcSW__WXTY�T\cVR\Qc�̀PQRSPTTYSf�X̂\T]\Qc�ŴRP_WR\PQ�UaURY_f�PS�T\cVR\Qc�

YQYSca�_WQWcY_YQR�UaURY_f�WTT�d\RV�XWRRYSa�PS�U\_\TWS�XẀĥZ�ZPdYS�PS�]Y[\̀Yi�

�

jN� kPS�QPQ'SYU\]YQR\WT�̂UYUf�RVY�T̂_YQU�ePS�YẀV�e\bR̂SY�UVWTT�XY�SY]̂ Ỳ]�Xa�WR�TYWUR�

lmn�QP�TWRYS�RVWQ�PQY�opN�VP̂S�WeRYS�RVY�X̂U\QYUU�\U�̀TPUY]�RP�RVY�ẐXT\̀�Yb̀YZR�

RVWR�T\cVR\Qc�SY]̂ R̀\PQU�WSY�QPR�SYĝ\SY]�ePS�RVY�ePTTPd\Qcq�

�

pN� rVYQ�W�U\RY�̀PQRW\QU�QP�_PSY�RVWQ�RdP�osN�e\bR̂SYUi�

�

sN� OP]Y�SYĝ\SY]�T\cVR\Qc�ePS�URYZUf�URW\SUf�dWThdWaUf�WQ]�X̂\T]\Qc�

YQRSWQ̀YUi�

�

lN� MPR\PQ�ẀR\[WRY]�T\cVR\Qci�

�

tN� u\cVR\Qc�WZZSP[Y]�Xa�W�vZỲ\WT�wUY�xYS_\R�\Q�dV\̀V�R\_YU�Pe�PZYSWR\PQ�

WSY�UZỲ\e\̀WTTa�\]YQR\e\Y]i�

�

yN� ẑU\QYUUYU�RVWR�PZYSWRY�PQ�W�st'VP̂S�XWU\Ui�

�

{N� rVYQ�\Q�RVY�PZ\Q\PQ�Pe�RVY�|ỲVQ\̀WT�}Y[\Yd�OP__\RRYYf�T\cVR\Qc�TY[YTU�

_̂ UR�XY�_W\QRW\QY]�RP�YQÛSY�RVY�VYWTRVf�UWeYRaf�WQ]�dYTeWSY�Pe�RVY�

P̀__̂ Q\Rai�

�

�

- Page 70 -



�

���

� ��������	
��������

��
�������������������
������������������������

��

�� ������������
���
������� ��� �����������
��
!
���������������
�
����
������"�


	�
��������#�� �
$%������&
��
�������'�
�����
���
�����#
���(���(���

��

�� )� ��� ��������
��!���
����������
��������
�*

���
���
�"�������
�����

�
��� ��� ��

���
� 
�
����������������������
�������

��

�� #
��������� ��� ��������������������������������
��������������������������


�
��"�������
��������

�������
��
+���
�
������#
�����,�-�.�/��0123456����

��

�� )� ��� ��������
��!����� ������������������
���������#
�����,���7�839:�

;22<=3:5>31:���

��

�� ?���������@ABB@��� ��� �������
��!�������*������ ��$��$!�����������!�$�!�
��

����
��������
�*
�
��������*�����
���"����
�"�����!
����
���

�

�

� �������%���������
������

7
���
��
������
�����������������
��
�
��
�"��
��!�
�C*����
��������������
���!��

!������������

������
����������������
��� ��� �
� ��

�"�+������
���� ��� �����
��������

D#
�������/�EF"������ ��� ����������
���
������ ����������
��� ��� ����������
���������� �

����!����������"��
�������
�������"����������������*�
��������������
��
����������

����������
����
������������ ����������
�����
	
���������
��*������ ��� ��� �!���

����
�
�������
��� ���
�
����
����
�������
����
��D�������� ��������
���� ��� F��.���

���
 ������
������
��������������
�������
����
�����"���!����������"�����������*�
�

��������������*
�����
���������
��
������

�

�

GHIHJ��KLMN@LOM�PBQLOL@LROS�

�

TS@ARORULV�WLUB��XL@VNY�TO�Z[@RUZ@LV�\LMN@LOM�VRO@AR\�]B̂LVB�@NZ@�SXL@VNBS�R[@]RRA�

\LMN@LOM�AB\Z@L̂B�@R�@LUB�RQ�SR\ZA�]Z_�XL@N�@LUB�RQ�_BZA�VRAABV@LROH���

�

Z̀Va\LMN@Y�bRA�ZO�Bc@BALRA�QLc@[ABd�\[UBOS�BUL@@B]�LO�@NB�e[ZA@BA�SfNBAB�gB\RX�

NRALhRO@Z\�ZO]�LO�@NB�RffRSL@B�]LABV@LRO�RQ�@NB�LO@BO]B]�RALBO@Z@LRO�RQ�@NB�QLc@[ABH�bRA�

QLc@[ABS�XL@N�S_UUB@ALV�]LS@ALg[@LROd�gZVa\LMN@�XL\\�gB�@NB�SZUB�ZS�QARO@�\LMN@H�

�

ìjY�T�QLc@[AB�V\ZSSLQLVZ@LRO�S_S@BU�@NZ@�V\ZSSLQLBS�gZVa\LMN@�k̀ld�[f\LMN@�kil�ZO]�M\ZAB�

kjlH�

�

bRR@mVZO]\BY�WNB�[OL@�RQ�UBZS[AB�BcfABSSLOM�@NB�e[ZO@L@_�RQ�\LMN@�ABVBL̂B]�RO�Z�S[AQZVBH�

nOB�kol�QRR@mVZO]\B�LS�@NB�L\\[ULOZOVB�fAR][VB]�g_�Z�VZO]\B�RO�ROB�kol�Se[ZAB�QRR@�RQ�

S[AQZVB�ZABZ�UBZS[AB]�QARU�Z�]LS@ZOVB�RQ�ROB�kol�QRR@H�

�

j\ZABY�KLMN@�BO@BALOM�@NB�B_B�]LABV@\_�QARU�QLc@[ABS�RA�LO]LABV@\_�QARU�ABQ\BV@L̂B�S[AQZVBS�

@NZ@�VZ[SBS�̂LS[Z\�]LSVRUQRA@�RA�AB][VB]�̂LSLgL\L@_H�

�

KZUfY�p�qrsrtuv�wrtx�yzt�{�|z}tvr�zy�z~wuv{��t{�u{wuzs��u�r����uq�w����zywrs�v{��r��{���}����

zt��w}�r�����{x~�r|�usv�}�r�usv{s�r|vrsw��y�}ztr|vrswd�NLMNmLO@BOSL@_�]LSVNZAMB�k��Pl�

- Page 71 -



�

���

�����	��
��������������������������������	�����������������������
��������������

���������
����������

�

��
�������������
� �������
���!������	�����"�	�������������
�����������������������
���

�
����������
�������!���������

�

��� �������������
���������

�

��������������
 �#
����$������!!�����!�����!�������������
�����
�	�"���
�������������	������	�

��������������	��%�����	��
���������	���������������!�����
����������	��
����������

�
�����
�����
����
$���
��
���

�

������&������� ������������!�����"���
����������������������
��
�������������
�����

�

������
� �'()*+,-.+/�0-�'123�124*/�0-�'2-,.5.+.2)/�).67,.368��9**�').67,.36�*:;.<1*3,/8�

�

������
���=�����
� ��=�����
�������!��������
��
����������$��������������������

������
����
	��
�����
��"���
�������������	��������	�����
�������	�"���������	������	������	�

��
�����	��
��������������������	���������������
�	��
��������
��������������>�������

�����
�
����

�

������������������� �#���
�������$�����������
��������������������������������������

����������
������������������������������!!���
���!!����
���������������$����"����

�

���������� �?
��$���������������!����������!���������������
�����������	��
�����
��"���


��������������������"����	�"����	�����������
��������!�����=�����
�	�"�����
��

��������	��
�������
�
���
��
�����������������

�

�%��@�� �&���"������
�
���!�����
����������%���������������!����������������
���
��

��!������
��!�����!������������"������������
������������������
������������������%������

����������"����������������������!��������������������������
�����������
�A���"������

���$�������
������%���

�

&��������� �#
�����������������
����
�������$�������������������������������
����������

�!������

�

?������ �B����
��>�����������
����	�!��>�����������
�����������������������"�$������

����C�
�������
���

�

�

#��D��EFGHIEJ�E&#��#�FG�IHK�LI#H��H�MIJJ�E�#&GIE �

NOP�QRPS�TUVWXYUZPU[\]�Q̂VW_YX̀�aY\X̂�XPVWPbP̂�[OP�RXYRY_P̂�\ZPÛZPU[_�\[�[OPWX�cPR[PZdPX�efg�ehei�

ZPP[WUj�\Û�bPXP�_kRRYX[WVP�Yl�[OP�\ZPÛZPU[_�ZYVWUj�lYXb\X̂�\_�RXYRY_P̂m�

�

��#EEGE@��&#BB�H�MIJJ�E�#&GIE �

n]\UUWUj�_[\ll�XPoYZZPÛ_�\RRXYV\]�Yl�[OP�RXYRY_P̂�\ZPÛZPU[_m�

�

��#EEGE@�LI#H��H�MIJJ�E�#&GIE �

NOP�n]\UUWUj�aY\X̂�OP\X̂�[OP_P�\ZPÛZPU[_�\[�[OPWX�po[YdPX�qg�ehei�ZPP[WUj�\Û�kU\UWZYk_]̀�

XPoYZZPÛP̂�\RRXYV\]m��

- Page 72 -



- Page 73 -



��

�����������	
������������������������������������������������� � !�" !#"�$�� 	%&'()����(�()��(������	%&'()�*
�+(�,��-��.-�����������/�����.�.�0���-�����.�������1/.2���3453678�89�8:;�<49=>5>975�9?��948:��649@>76�A;7;46@��86838;5�B�$�.!$���67C�89�8:;��9D7�9?��<;E�/7>?>;C�.;=;@9<F;78�4C>767G;�1/.2��;GH��H�H����798>G;�>5�:;4;IJ�K>=;7�9?�6�<3I@>G�:;64>7K�I;?94;�8:;��9D7��937G>@�9?�8:;��9D7�9?��<;E�?94�8:;�<34<95;�9?�59@>G>8>7K�G9FF;785�4;@68>=;�89�8:;�?9@@9D>7K�6F;7CF;78152�89�8:;�/7>?>;C�.;=;@9<F;78�4C>767G;�8:68�64;�6<<@>G6I@;��9D7!D>C;L��+MNOMPQMR�ST�QUM��VMW�
XYZ[\X]MXQ̂_��RYZP\[T�&\̂[R�̂XR�	_̂XXZX̀�aQ̂bbc���F;7CF;785�89��;GH�dH$�efghijki�ljmngjom�>7�94C;4�89�F9C;47>p;�@>K:8>7K�5867C64C5�?94���.�@>K:85q�4;584>G8�797!G389??�@>K:8�?>E834;5q�G4;68;�5867C64C5�89�4;C3G;�I6Gr@>K:8>7K��3<@>K:8>7K��67C�K@64;q�@9D;4�8:;�F6E>F3F�@>K:8>7K�6@@9D;C�?94�I>GJG@;�<64r>7Kq�G:67K;�D6886K;�5867C64C5�89�@3F;75q�G4;68;�5867C64C5�?94�@>K:8>7K�@;=;@5�6?8;4�I35>7;55�:9345q�67C�6CC�C;?>7>8>975�6<<@>G6I@;�89�8:>5��;G8>97H�� �	OS_Zs�*M̂[ZX̀�'\ŝQZ\Xc���<;E��9D7��6@@��������������������������������������� �937G>@��:6FI;4���7C��@994���������������������������������� �#��378;4��84;;8���<;E���948:��649@>76�����\tX�)\OXsZ_�	OS_Zs�*M̂[ZX̀�ûQM�̂XR��Z]Mc��sQ\SM[�vwx�vyvz���{cyy�	|�}93�F6J�688;7C�8:;�F;;8>7K�>7�<;4597�94�=>;D�8:;�F;;8>7K�8:493K:�~�����������������������~������~��:88<5L��DDDHJ9383I;HG9F�G�89D79?6<;EK9=H���?�J93�64;�376I@;�89�688;7C��J93�F6J�<49=>C;�6�D4>88;7�5868;F;78�IJ�;F6>@�89�<3I@>GH:;64>7K�6<;E7GH94K��94�53IF>8�>8�89�8:;�??>G;�9?�8:;��9D7��@;4r�1�#��378;4��84;;8�94�/����F6>@�!��HH��9E�������<;E����������2��68�@;658�8D9�I35>7;55�C6J5�<4>94�89�8:;��9D7��937G>@�=98;H�}93�F358�<49=>C;�J934�76F;�67C�6CC4;55�?94�8:;�4;G94CH��:;�D4>88;7�5868;F;785�D>@@�I;�C;@>=;4;C�89�8:;��9D7��937G>@�F;FI;45�<4>94�89�8:;>4�=98;H��@;65;�>7G@3C;�8:;��3I@>G��;64>7K�76F;�>7�8:;�53I�;G8�@>7;H����:;�/.�G67�I;�6GG;55;C�97@>7;�68L�:88<L��DDDH6<;E7GH94K��##H�� .>677;��H��:>7��������@677>7K�.>4;G894��3I@>5:;C�.68;5L�G89I;4��!�"�����#�
- Page 74 -



�

�����������	
���������������������������������������������������� ! "�# "$#�%�� ���&�&'�'&(���)*+&'��,	��-,&	�'&�.��)*+&'�.�/01232454267�18�95��:18757;5��18�<8=5::0990�>72324510�?><�@�<8�40730:A2151�407�95=�12=B0=242078=�18�90=��=C5CDC0=�E878:598=�18��5:09275�189��0:C8�F!%�<"%�!�G�407�95�=844267�����!!�18�95��:18757;5�18�<8=5::0990�>72324510�?><�@�189�BD8H90�18��B8I��B0:�95�B:8=87C8�=8�70C232457�95=�5D1287425=�BJH9245=�57C8�89��07=8K0�/D7242B59�189�BD8H90�18��B8I�5�327�18�=09242C5:�40A87C5:20=�:895C2L0=�5�95�=2MD287C8�A01232454267�18�95��:18757;5�18�<8=5::0990�>72324510�ND8�=8�5B92457�5�C015�95�42D151O��.PQRSRTUVP�WPX�QU�YZ[TU��\]\PXU��̂ _R][TUQ�V]��W]̀�a�]Q�W]X\P[UQ�V]�WQU[RbRSUSRc[���7A28715=�5�95�844267��d�%�efghijklimj�nopnqirq�407�89�327�18�A018:72;5:�90=�8=Cs715:8=�18�95�29DA2754267�407�8A2=0:8=�18�9D;���<t�:8=C:27M2:�90=�5448=0:20=�=27�40:C8�89u4C:240t�4:85:�8=Cs715:8=�B5:5�:81D42:�95�:8C:029DA2754267��8IC:8A515�29DA2754267�G�89�:8=B95710:t�H5K5:�95�29DA2754267�AsI2A5�B8:A2C215�B5:5�89�8=C542075A287C0�18�H242498C5=t�45AH25:�90=�8=Cs715:8=�18�B0C87425�87�v5CC=�5�9JA878=t�4:85:�8=Cs715:8=�B5:5�90=�72L898=�18�29DA2754267�3D8:5�189�w0:5:20�18�C:5H5K0t�G�5M:8M5:�18327242078=�5B9245H98=�5�8=C5�844267����+ZxUX�V]�QU�UZVR][SRU�Wy_QRSUz���GD7C5A287C0�18��B8I���������������������������������������sA5:5�189��07=8K0���{�B2=0��������������������������������������$��D7C8:�C:88C���B8I���5:09275�189��0:C8����]S|U�a�|PXU�V]�QU�UZVR][SRU�Wy_QRSU�V]Q�'P[\]}P�~Z[RSRWUQz�����V]�PSTZ_X]�V]���������z����~���D818�5=2=C2:�5�95�:8D7267�18�A578:5�B:8=874259�0�=8MD2:�95�C:57=A2=267�87�12:84C0�B0:��0D�DH8�5�C:5Lu=�189�=2MD287C8�879548O�wCCB=O��vvv�G0DCDH8�40A�4�C0v7035B8IM0L����2�70�BD818�5=2=C2:��BD818�87L25:�D75�18495:54267�8=4:2C5�B0:�40::80�8984C:67240�5�BDH924�w85:27M�5B8I74�0:M��0�B:8=87C5:95�5�95��324275�189�84:8C5:20�/D7242B59�?�$��D7C8:�C:88C�0�B0:�40::80�>��5�������0I�������B8I����������@��59�A870=�10=�1�5=�wsH298=�57C8=�18�95�L0C54267�189��07=8K0�/D7242B59��<8H8�B:0B0:42075:�=D�70AH:8�G�12:844267�B5:5�ND8�407=C8�87�89�:8M2=C:0���5=�18495:542078=�8=4:2C5=�=8�87C:8M5:s7�59��07=8K0�/D7242B59�57C8=�18�95�L0C54267���0�09L218�2749D2:�89�70AH:8�18�95�5D1287425�BJH9245�87�89�5=D7C0����8�BD818�544818:�5�95�><��87�9�785�87O�wCCBO��vvv�5B8I74�0:M��$$��� <25778�����w27�������<2:84C0:5�18��957232454267���84w5=�18�BDH92454267O��"�#�18�04CDH:8�18����$�
- Page 75 -



��

����������	
������
���	
������
	����������
������
���
�
����
����������	
���������������������� !��"#$�%"&$'()�"*�� !��"#$�"*��+!,�-.�*"))"#./��012345�67�� 012345�879�4:�2;0��53:30<��0=0>4?@052��A<35B510�3C�B@05<0<�24�A0B<�BC�:4>>4DC�D32;�B<<32345C�C;4D5�BC�E4><�F5<0A>350<�20G2�B5<�<0>02345C�C;4D5�BC�C2AF1HI2;A4FJ;�20G2K��LMN� �O�������P�QR���Q��� LMNM��S&T+".!�-$U��$�!$����;0�?FA?4C0�4:�2;3C��A<35B510�3C�24�?A4=3<0�A0JF>B2345C�:4A�4F2<44A�>3J;235J�2;B2�D3>>K�� �V� �0A@32�2;0�FC0�4:�4F2<44A�>3J;235J�2;B2�D3>>�;03J;205�53J;223@0�CB:02WX�F23>32WX�C01FA32WX�?A4<F123=32WX�05Y4W@052X�B5<�14@@0A107�� ZV� �353@3[0�B<=0AC0�4::C320�3@?B12C�4:�>3J;235J�CF1;�BC�>3J;2�2A0C?BCC�B5<�4E2AFC3=0�>3J;27�� 	V� 	FA2B3>�>3J;2�?4>>F23457��� �V� �0>?�?A42012�D3><>3:0�B5<�;BE32B2�:A4@�2;0�B<=0AC0�0::012C�4:�53J;2�>3J;235J7��� 
V� 	45C0A=0�050AJW�B5<�A0C4FA10C7�� � !�+T"\(.("$�"*�"&�U""T�)(] �($]� !(] �!$.�$(] ��(̂!�.-*!���-$U�\(.(�()(��_�-$U�(.�&.!U��"�!$ -$'!�� !�.!'&T(���"*�+T"+!T���-$U�+!"+)!M�P(] �($]�. "&)U��!�+T"\(U!U�($�-T!-.�"*� !-\��\! (')!�-$U�+!U!.�T(-$�&.!_�-$U�-T!-.�� -��-T!�U-$]!T"&.�(*�&$)(��.&' �-.�.�-(T._�($�!T.!'�("$._�"T�' -$]!.�($�]T-U!M����(.�(̂+"T�-$���"�.!��')!-T�]&(U!)($!.�."�� -��)(] �($]��F2<44A�>3J;235J�C;4F><�-U!̀&-�!)��.!T\!.�� !�.(�!�# ()!�̂($(̂(a($]�$!]-�(\!�(̂+-'�.�"$�.&TT"&$U($]�+T"+!T�(!.M���LMNMb�P(] �($]�S)-$���$��U!\!)"+̂ !$��320��>B5�B5<��45A0C3<0523B>��BC20A�FE<3=3C345��>B5�� -��+T"+".!.�!,�!T("T�)(] �($]�. -))�($')&U!�-�U!�-()!U�!,�!T("T�)(] �($]�+)-$�-.�+-T��"*�� !�+)-$�.&�̂ (..("$M�� (.�+)-$�. -))�($')&U!/���� �c� d+!'(*('-�("$.�*"T�� !�)(] �($]�*(,�&T!.�.&' �-./���+!�"*�&$(��e'&�"**_�$"$f'&�"**_�])-T!�. (!)U._�!�'Mc_�Z�g�AB235JX�)-̂ +.�e#-��-]!>F@05C_�!�'Mc_�'"TT!)-�!U�'")"T��!̂ +!T-�&T!�"*�)-̂ +.�eh!)\($c_�!)!'�T('-)�)"-U�T!̀&(T!̂ !$�._�&�()(���'"̂ +-$��($\")\!U_�̂!� "U�"*�#(T($]_�T"&�($]i)"'-�("$�"*�)($!._�)"'-�("$�"*�)(] �._�-$U�"̂&$�($]� !(] �.M��>>�>3J;235J�:3G2FA0C�?A4?4C0<�C;B>>�E0�;3J;�0::313051W�B5<�?4CC0CC��
��>B@?�201;54>4JW7���c� �$�(."*""�'-$U)!�+)-$�� -��. "#.���+('-)�*""�f'-$U)!�'"$�"&T.�"T�-�+"($��+ "�"̂ !�T('�]T(U�� -��($U('-�!.�*""�f'-$U)!�)!\!).�̂!-.&T!U�-��]T-U!�-'T"..�� !�.(�!M���+"($��+ "�"̂ !�T('�+)-$�(.�T!̀&(T!U�*"T�j($"T�-$U�j-k"T�d(�!�S)-$.�#(� �"̂T!�� -$��#"�ebc�)(] ��+")!.M��� !T�($*"T̂-�("$�.&' �-./�̂-,(̂&̂ _�-\!T-]!_�-$U�̂($(̂&̂ �.(�!�*""�f'-$U)!.�-$U�&$(*"T̂(���T-�("�e-\!T-]!î($(̂&̂ c�. "&)U�-)."��!�($')&U!UM�l""�f'-$U)!�)!\!).�. -))��!�. "#$�-��($(�(-)�?FE>3C;0<�)!\!).�:4A�0B1;�:3G2FA0M��
- Page 76 -



��

���� �����	�
�����������������
���
��
�
����
�����
���
��������
������
�������
��
���������
��
������������������
��
��������������
�����������������
���������������
��
���
���������������
����������������������	��
�����
���

� 
�!�"!#!$!%!$�!�&������	�
����������'()**��
������
������
����������������
	�������
��
���������
���!�+�
�
���
��
�
��������
������������	�������
��
���������
���,���������������	�
�����������
������
�����-../�������
��������������
������������
������
!�0�
������	�
������������������
����
��
�
���
��������
�����������������
��
��
���������
��
�,��
�����������
��
��
���������,�����������
�������������������
1�����
�������
�
�
������������,��
�����������,������,���������
����

���,�
��!�������
��
�
��������
���

� 
�!�"!#!$!&�!�23�4'�563�5787'')9:�36�;96<=87�69�6>79*):�?663/8)5<*7�97)<45@'�65�3(7�896''/'783465�<9)A45@'B�C(7�453753�4'�36�4<7534?:�)97)'�A(797�?4D3=97�;*)87E753�E):�45396<=87�;637534)*�@*)97�)5<�97F=497�E434@)3465�3(96=@(�'(47*<45@�4?�E434@)3465�4'�563�;96>4<7<�3(96=@(�;9637837<�69�;96;6'7<�>7@73)3465B��%�� G�����
����������������
��
�������������
����������������
�GH,�I�,�����IHG��
�������������������
�������������������
�������
��������
��
���������������������,��������������������
�,������
�������
�
����������!�0�
�JKLMNONJPMNQR�STUM�VKLNOW�MXPM�MXK�YZPRU�SKKM�MXK�[Q\R]U�̂KUN_R�LK̀TNLKSKRMU������������������������!��� �"!#!a�b���������� ������������c�� 0�
�����
���
�����
�������������������������������
��������
���������
��������
����������������
�!�d���
����
���
�
��
�������������	�����
���
����
���������
!� �
������������������
��

����
�
��������
���
�����	�����
��
�
��!�&�
���
�����
��������
���������
���������
��
�
����������������
�����
����
�e�����
�����
,������f�������������
���������
���������
��
�
����������������
��������������������
�����f�����
������!�C(7�<7>7*6;79�'()**�;96>4<7�3(7�5)E7�6?�3(7�'6?3A)97�;96@9)E�='7<�36�<7379E457�3(7�*4@(345@�;)9)E7379'�)'�A7**�)'�3(7�'=EE)9:�'(773'�45<48)345@�3(7�)>79)@7�4**=E45)587�)5<�=54?69E43:�9)346'�)8(47>7<�45�3(749�*):6=3'B��� 0���
�"!#	-g�I������ �������������h
�
����G��f�������G
�
������&�
�������������	�����
����i�
�� j��k������b��������
�&�79)�7� i��������l�����&�
���
1�������	�m���	�������
��
�����������������������f
��������� $Bn��� "1-�	�l
����� $Bn��� $1-�o� p���
��o� b����������o� H�����������o� ��������,����,������
��
��������o� ��������������
������������o� 0������
���������
��������
���
��
������ �Bn�� $1-��
- Page 77 -



��

�������	
�����������������������������������������������������������������������  ���!������"��#$�������%&'()�'� *�����$��+�,������%&�����-$���$#$��./��������������������+-����������0����&���������0�%�1�0����+����2��3���0����	��� 4	5�� 6-7�89:;:<'�=)(>9?@� ABC� DEF�����G��3��� 7	5� 6-7�/����#����#�������������������2��3��������&���������0����&��������22������G�+�0�2��&����������������0����	��� 7	5� 6-7���������+������ 6	5� 6-7��������-#������������3������2������$��� 74	5� 6-7�%#���������+���-����������#���������2��+�� 75	5� �-7�H���������������������������������..0�2��+���#���0���#���..0�2������� 75	5� 6-7�.%&����������������&��������&��������������������������������+������������������75�������+�75���������������$������������2�����������	��..�����	
	6	"�I������2�����������2����������������������	���� J�� K�������$2����#���������������������������$2����#����KK��������$2�����������������������������������������0455�L��&���	�%�����������������������������������$2�����$��������M#���$���	��� �	
	6�N������,�M#���$�����������������������0��#�����������#��������������#����#�������0�����������������0�2��3��������0����������0����������������������2��&���������������&���2����&�������������������O������2��2������	�"����������������������������2��������������������������2#���������������G�+�������+��$2�����������&���������$���������������&�����+��$2���������O�������2��2������	�%������������������������������������������$���O������2��2��������+����������&���������0�����3��&��������&����������#�����0����$�0�G����0����������0����-�������#��������������������������0�����������������0��2����������#���0���$������&����0��22��2�����������������������0��#$�������0�����$�#�����������22��2�������������	�������������-��������������������������M#����������������������&����#����#��������������������$�#���������#��������G��������+������$$�������+���O���������������������#������#�������������������������2��3������������$�#���������������������#�����������������������������#����	�%����#���������������������������$�������������G������������������������ %�� 1�#������ ���������#�������������������#���������������������0�������������$�#�������������������G���������22��2��������������P���������������������	��	
	�	K�0��#�������������������������������������� 7�� 7����������&������������QRQSTUVRWW����������������	��	
	6	N	��X�������FY� �4���������&������������Z[<<�:[\]ZZ�Z9̂\[('_���������	��	
	6	N	��̀�'̂:'=\�)_�_\)\'a�'<_'bc'('�9?�\c9_�d':\9]?	����������������Z[<<��#������������Z9̂\[('_�����������2���$������������������������������G��������+������$$�������+���O�����������O�������������������2��2���������������������������������������P��������������M#������+����	��	
	�	K�	�e][_'P_9a'�_c9'<a_�)('�('f[9('a�g)_'a�]?�:(]__P_':\9]?_�\]�)h]9a�@<)('�=(]a[:'a�g;�<)i=�
- Page 78 -



��

��������	
�	����������������	
�����������������	����������������������	��������
��������������	�������������������	�	�����
�������	
������������������������� � !"#$"%�&'$%&#�$(�)'*(!+',�-+ )�#&'�-$"$(&',�%+*,'� +�(!+-*.'�*",�$"./!,'(�#&'�# #*/�&'$%&#� -�#&'�-$0#!+'1�2 /'1�*",�*"3�4*('� +� #&'+�(!22 +#$"%�(#+!.#!+'�+'5!$+',�# �) !"#�#&'�/$%&#6(�7���

�
- Page 79 -



��

��������	
�
�
�������������������������������������������� ��� ����� �!��"�� #$$�%&'(%%)�$*+,'*-+�.*/'&)01�1,2$$�30�$%42'0(�2�5*-*5&5�%.�"6�.00'�.)%5�2�7)%70)'8�%)�)*+,'9%.9:28�$*-0;�2-(�1,%&$(�30�<07'�%&'�%.�2-(�2'�$021'�':%�=>��.00'�2:28�.)%5�2-8�)0?&*)0(�70)*50'0)�%)�1')00'14270�3&..0);�2-(�')00�12@0�2)02A����>�� B,0�$28%&'�%.�$*+,'*-+�1,2$$�30�(01*+-0(�1%�',2'�7%$01�(%�-%'�*-'0).0)0�:*',�%',0)�0$050-'1�%.�',0�277)%@0(�1*'0�1&4,�21�')001;�$2-(1427*-+;�2-(�72)<*-+A�C-�+0-0)2$;�7�%$01�1,%&$(�D�E���30�<07'�2'�$021'�>6�.00'�2:28�.)%5�',0�')&-<�%.�2-8�$2)+0�'870�')00�2-(�2'�$021'�"6�.00'�2:28�.)%5�',0�')&-<�%.�2-8�152$$�'870�')00F���G�H�����GED�D�I�����������E������J���G���������K���D�����D�������ED��EL���E���H�EG��GE�A����M�� N*+,'*-+�.%)�%&'(%%)�(*17$28�2)021;�1&4,�21�2&'%�(02$0)1,*71;�5&1'�30�$%42'0(�*-1*(0�',0�*$$&5*-2'0(�2)02�%)�-%�5%)0�',2-�"6�.00'�2:28�.)%5�',0�%&'1*(0�0(+0�%.�',0�*$$&5*-2'0(�2)02�1%�',2'�',0�25%&-'�%.�(*)04'�+$2)0�2-(�',0�@*1&2$�.*0$(�%.�@*0:�(%01�-%'�7)010-'�2�12.0'8�,2O2)(�'%�',0�7211*-+�5%'%)*1'A����
- Page 80 -



��

��������	
�
�
�������������������������������������������� �������������� ������!����"�����������������#������������"��������������������$����!����"���%������������������"���������������&����!����������'�����������(�����������"��������������"�����������������������������������&����!��������
��������#����������������%����"������������������������!���������������������!����"��������������"���)(����)�"��%�(������������������"���$�
�������������#������������������������������"��������!����������������������"��������!�������������������������&����!���
������������������%��������������"����
������� *+,--./01�2,345�678�9-610�:.751.-���;�� ���������������������������"�������������������������������������!�#�!�!�����!��������!�����������������������<����������������������������������������#�����=
>��������'����������������������������;
=��������'���������<������������������������"����������<��<%��
���?�� @��<�����������������������"�������������������!�����������<������������������%���������������!!�����������'�����������'�������������������
- Page 81 -



��

���������	
����������������	�������������������������	�����������������	�����	�����������������
����� ������������	�	����������������������������	����������	�	 ��!�� ������������	��	�������������������������������	���������	���	������������������������������"�����������"���������	������������������	���	������������������������������������	�����	�����������������	���������	���
�#���	�����	���	�������������������	�$������	������������������%�	�������������������������������������	������������������	
�&�������������������	�����	������������%���	�������������������������������������������������	������������������	
��'(� )**�+,-./012�234**�51�234**�51�+/**6�23,1*7178�+/**�9/.:++�.6;1�+,-./012�<,.3�4�9:=914*17�*4>;?*,@3.�2:/0918�1-91;.�42�:.310<,21�2.4.17�<,.3,=�.3,2�A19.,:=B�� C(� DEFGHIJKLM�NOHIJKLM�EPQ�RHEST�UDNRV�W31�.3011�9:>;:=1=.2�:+�XYZ�04.,=@2�401�54217�:=�[\A�W] _̂̀ âb�cdefghigjk�lminngogpiqgrh�stnqkf�orj�ueqvrrj�defghigjknw�ojrf�qxk�[**/>,=4.,=@�\=@,=110,=@�A:9,1.68�42�4>1=717�y211�z,@/01�{B|B}B~(B�W31�04.,=@�262.1>�,2�422,@=17�4��4*/1�51.<11=�a�4=7�̀�+:0�1493�9:>;:=1=.�<,.3�*:<10�=/>5102�,=7,94.,=@�*122�*,@3.�,=�4�@,�1=�7,019.,:=B��� 4(� X49�*,@3.�yX(�9014.12�*,@3.�.012;422�:=.:�47�491=.�2,.12B�W31�X�04.,=@�499:/=.2�+:0�.31�4>:/=.�:+�*,@3.�a�.:��a�71@0112��10.,94*�+0:>�.31�@0:/=7�,=�.31�7,019.,:=�:;;:2,.1�+0:>�.31�4014�,=.1=717�.:�51�*,.B�\-91;.�42�:.310<,21�2.4.17�,=�.3,2�A19.,:=8�.31�>4-,>/>�;10>,..17�549�*,@3.�yX(�04.,=@�234**�51����y,(� C�+:0�+,-./012�*:94.17�'a�+11.�:0�*122�+0:>�4�;/5*,9�0,@3.̂:+̂<46B��y,,(� '�+:0�+,-./012�*:94.17�'a�+11.�:0�*122�+0:>�.31�;0:;10.6�*,=1�:+�4�012,71=.,4*�/21�:0�4��494=.�;0:;10.6�,=�4�012,71=.,4*��:=,=@�7,2.0,9.B��� 5(� Y;*,@3.�yY(�9:=.0,5/.12�.:�40.,+,9,4*�2�6�@*:<B�W31�Y�04.,=@�71+,=12�.31�4>:/=.�:+�*,@3.�,=.:�.31�/;;10�31>,2;3101��a�.:�_{a�71@0112��10.,94*�+0:>�.31�@0:/=7B�\-91;.�42�:.310<,21�2.4.17�,=�.3,2�A19.,:=8�.31�>4-,>/>�;10>,..17�/;*,@3.�yY(�04.,=@�,2�a8�2,=91�4**�+,-./012�23:/*7�51�+/**�9/.:++B�� 9(� Z*401�yZ(�,2�.31�9:>;:=1=.�:+�*,@3.�.34.�94=�51�4==:6,=@�:0��,2/4**6�7,245*,=@B�W31�Z�04.,=@�499:/=.2�+:0�.31�4>:/=.�:+�+0:=.�*,@3.�4=7�549�*,@3.�|a�.:��a�71@0112��10.,94*�+0:>�.31�@0:/=7B�\-91;.�42�:.310<,21�2.4.17�,=�.3,2�A19.,:=8�.31�>4-,>/>�;10>,..17�@*401�yZ(�04.,=@�234**�51���
- Page 82 -



��

���� ����	���
��	����������������	������	������������	������������������� ����	���
��	����������������	������	�������	��	������������	�������������	�����������	��	��������	��������� ����������	������

�!���	�"�#�$�%�&'(�)������*�����+,� -.//.01234567�89:;<�=>?�@>@ABCD>==�=EFDC?G<�<H9II�@>D�GFBGGJ�KLL�M9DD<N�89:;<�=>?������BCDA>==�=EFDC?G<�<H9II�@>D�GFBGGJ�OPL�M9DD<��QRQ��������N�� S,� TUVWXVY0Z�[\]UYX�̂]UY/1X�_V̀/U\1a�.YX�bcc1Y/�dV0e/VY0��8EfHDE@f�<H9II�@>D�gG�:>C@DGJ�D>�gCEIJE@f<�>?�C<GJ�D>�EIIC:E@9DG�gCEIJE@f<�>?�>DHG?�<EDG�=G9DC?G<�C@IG<<�9;;?>hGJ�9<�E@DGf?9I�GIG:G@D<�>@�DHG�JGhGI>;:G@D�;I9@N�8EfHDE@f�MEII�@>D�gG�9;;?>hGJ�C@IG<<�DHG�IEfHD�=EFDC?G<�9?G�B9?G=CIIi�<GIGBDGJj�I>B9DGJj�9E:GJj�9@J�<HEGIJGJ�<>�DH9D�IEfHD�E<�JE?GBDGJ�>@Ii�>@D>�IE:EDGJ�;9?D<�>=�DHG�gCEIJE@f�=9k9JGj�<;GBE:G@�I9@J<B9;Gj�9@J�<EDG�=G9DC?G<j�9@J�<;EII>hG?�IEfHD�E<�:E@E:ElGJ�m<GG�9I<>�nGB<N��NoNpNq�b\ceV/1c/U\.WrsV/1�t]uv./VwVWV/xj��NoNpNy�svVWW]z1\�dV0e/�.YX�[W.\1�t]Y/\]Wj�9@J��NoNpN+�-.//.01234567N�{CEIJE@fj�f?>C@J�:>C@DGJ�=EFDC?G<�9@J�9BBG@D�IEfHDE@f�:C<D�:GGD�DHG�=>II>ME@f�B?EDG?E9|�� K,� 8EfHD<�:C<D�@>D�gG�C<GJ�D>�EIIC:E@9DG�G@DE?G�;>?DE>@<�>=�gCEIJE@fm<,j�I9@J<B9;Gj�>?�<EDG�=G9DC?G<N����
- Page 83 -



��

��� ����	�
����
��	���������������������������
	�����
��������������������������������������	�	���������  ���������������������!�
�����	�����"������������#�$���������
����������	������	�	�
���	���
	������������� �%&'(������
�������	�)*������+,-..� �%&'(#��/�� 0���
����������������������������� �%&'������1�������
	�������������������
���
�
��
����������������
�������	�*#2��1�������
��������3��
	���#��4�� 0�
�
����
	���
��������	��������	�
������
���1���	������
	�����
	����#�������
������
���
���������!�#�#�������
	��
�����������
	�#�5������������1�������������
���������������	������
�����������
���������	�����
������
�
����
	���
�������������
��	#��*�� 6�������������������1�����1�1�������������
������������
������������1�����
��
��
�������������������
��������
��������������������
�������������	#�7
��
����������
���������������
��������	���������������
������������
�����
����
	�����	�
���	����������������	�!��������8��#�9#)#�#5�:�������	�8��
��#�� ;�� <=>>?=@ABCD�E�	�������������������������	������
���������
���������	��������������������	�
�����������
��������������
��������������
	"������	�
�!���������������	��
���������:��

�
��F���������1�������������������
��
	�����1��������1�
������������	�1�����
����1����������#�$�����������	�������������������������	������
���������
�������
�������
��	���	����������������1������5
	�������������������������������
����	��
������	���������������������	����
��
�����
��������
�����������#���� �� 6�����
�����;���8����
"7
1�
��
���8����7�
������6�����
�������
�����������1���������
���
	��������������������������������	���
��������
����G+H�/�2�����II,...� �%&'��������	�������
�����������!�
���	�
����
�������
��	�����������������������������
���
��������	�����������
�����������
	�����
�������	����
�������������������
	��	���������J�	�
�
��#�6�����
�������
�����������1���������
���
	�������������������������������
��������	�����
���
	����������	��1�����������
	��������1���	����
��
���
�����
�����������
�������	��
��
����������������1�����K�������
	��������������	�������
	���1�����������
��	������������	���	�����������
����
	��
��
�������1��������1������*������
	�����
	���������
��#��
- Page 84 -



���

���������	
�������������������������������������������������������������� ��!�����"������� ���#������� $%�� �#������&�'��(���"�)��(&�����������������������*�((����(&����&��#����"�������+����&�����
"��&��((��������������&�&����������(��"�������(����&������&��������������������&�&�������&��������������#(�+��,���-(����������"���������##�!����+�&�!�����������������((��������������&�&�.���/�!�0�*�������+�"�������/�((�*��"����&��&������#����(������������������������������������&�&�1���� �%�� )�
����������23455������
"��&����������������������������6�������"(�&���*�������&7�������������������"����%�����8%�� )�
����������23455�9:�;<==:>�?<=@�=@:�ABCD;BE=DF:FGH�IJBF:�EKC=FKJ�#�"L�����$������������"����&����������!�����(���"����(�#�"L���0�������
�����#�"���"�����������*��"�����&������������"������������������(���"����(�#�"L��������M%�� )�
����������23455�*��&������&���&�����&��������������*�������((�/����������#���+�#(�+����������&���������&����������&����0������������N�����&��"���((��������������������"���(+�����"��&���#�((�!��(�!�(���������#�#��+�(��������������
"��&���M�����N"��&(�����������&�����(�#�#�����������%� ������������((�*���
���������&����(�������������6�%���������������!������&������� O%�� -�!������"�������)�"�(��+�����������������������*�((����(&����&��#����"����������#�!�����"���������"�(��+���+��
"��&��((��������������&�&���������������������"���������&��������������������&�&�������&�����"��!���"��������,���-(����������"���������##�!����+�&�!��������
- Page 85 -



���

�������	�
����
��
���������������	�	����	���	��������	���
����	����
�	�	����	�������	���
���
��������������		����	�	��

���������������� ���  
!���	����������������	!�		��"#��		��
�����
���	
����$��
��
����	�����	����%������	������
����������	��&��� '��  
!���	�������������()�*+,,)-�.+,/�,/)�0123*14,35)567�8915)�4:2,5:9����;��	&�<����	����������	����	��������	�������	�����������;��	����	��
!���	���	�
�
���
��������������	�����	����������������	����������	���������	�����������;��	&��� "��  
!���	��������������	��	�
�	������
�	������������	
���	����������
��
���	���
���������
����	�������	�
��	�
��	��������
���������������=�
�	��
�	���
����
��
��
���
�
�
�������	���
��	�&�>�
����	���	�	��������	�����	�����
	���������������	!�		��?&"�����=����	�������	�
�	�
�������	��
	�&��� @�� A
���
���������	�	!�
��
��	�������	�������?�??���&��� #�� B��?=�����C��	�B�����	���������	��	D�
�	��������������	�����
	������	���
���	��	��	��
�����
�
�����	�������
���
���
!���	�
���
��
��??��		��������	�
�	�
�����	&��� E�� >�����
���
���������	�������	�������	��
�	����F���	��>���
�
�
��G������>
�	�G����������������	����
���	��	��	��
�����
�
�
	�&�B�������������>�	�
���H�	�G	��
��������	�
�	��>
�	�G���A
���
��>�		�����A������	�>�		����	��	D�
�	���������������������	!�		��
����
��
����������������
��>	��
�������	!
��
����
���	��	��	��
�����
�
��&����� I��� <����
��	��C��
�����>��
������A
�����<����
��	�����
��������
�������
��������		������������
���������

������	�����
	�������	����	����	���������
	����������	��	�������
��
�����	�����
�
�	��	!�	����������
�	��
�>	�&�J&K&�&B&'#�LMNOPQR&�C�
������
�
�
����	��������������C������B�	!���	����		������
�	���������	�
����
��	�����
��������
�������
���������		����	�����	���	����
�����	�������	��	���	���������	���		�����	
�����	������	����	������	������
�	��	���	��&����� A��� <����
��
��������S	�
����S	��	��
��T����	!��� ��� H�	�����	�
�
������	!	���	�������	�	���	���������	!�	�
����
���
��������		����	���������������
�>	�&�J&E�UVWXYOMY�ZO[\WO][&�>�������	��	�	��	��������������������
�������	���
����	�	�	������������������	�	��������������������
�
�	���������		�̂���
������	�������	������_
�=�
	�������	�
����
��	�&��'�� A
���������������	���	�����
����
��	�	�
�	�����
��������
��
�$�����������	������
�	��	����	�&��� "�� �̀
��
�=����	���
�����������������=���;��������	=	�;����	��
!���	���������	���������
	��	������	�ab�������������	��
!���	��$���	��	������%�
����
- Page 86 -



���

�����	
���	���������������	����	��	�����������������	�������	��������������� �������	!�		���""������#$%&&����������� '
� (���������������)�	����	��*���������������	�����+	������������������������������	����	�����,�����-	����*�������	��	�������	���
��.*�����*�������+	���	���������������	��)��	���)������,�����������,������	��)���������*�����������������)�	����	����	��	���� /
� 0����������	�����������	���������������������	�	�������+��,�����������������������	������	������	������	!������))����	�����������������	����1�	�	���������������	�������2	��������������������	�+��	�*�������	����������	�+��������	���������	��	�������,���3	��*����	�)��)��	��	,��	�+	�������	���*�	������������������)������������	�)��!����,�����	�������������	�	�������+���	�������	,��	�+	��.����������������������*����	�	���	������������	!�		�������3����������������	��+	���	��*�/�"�*���4�����	�����������*�����,��������*�'5��-�+	���	5�������
�����	�����*�6/�*		���� 7
� 8!�	)����������	�����	��9	���:�7�'�;�<=>?@>ABC�DEF=A@�GF=AHI@�J>KH=EIL�MA@�NOOIAH�P>BQH>AB�������)R����������)��������������*������������	�)������	���� S
� T���������*�������+	���	+��+	�������	������������	������2��*���2	���+��,�������	����,����������������	����	�����	���	�	��������)�����������	�)������	���0���������������������������������������	���������	��������������*�������������*���	������������	��	�������������������	�	�������+���	����	������	��-�		������9	���:�S���.�UEFQ>V>HI@�W>BAL
���XY� Z[�\][����� ���̂��_][̀ab�b�\� \� �\[� \ac ��d��e\a�f�a��� ���[�\b[[]��af�\a�f�g������hhaca��\�b d�af�\�a�� ̀ a� ̂�����a�f� �c[�\][��b�̀ac��[]��d�\�����c�� �� �_�[\[���c\]ac��ga\c�$� �\][�[�ac�\a����ga\c��[]��i�à ���\�h��c\a[���h][�� �_][f] �� ̂����af�\a�f�c[�\][���]$�̂�a�ba�f� �\[� \a[���d�\��$�[]��af�\a�f����]fd�� � f����\��d�\��$� ���ga\��̂ \\�]d�[]��a�a� ]�̂ cj�_�_[g�]�[]�b�̀ac�k��lY� m[]��[�4]��ab��\a ������$�\����������h[]�� c��hae\�]���� ���̂��]�b�c�b�̂d� \��� �\�n&o��[�� \�]�\� ��[���pqY��[�]� h\�]�\���̂��a�����a��c�[��b�\[�\���_�̂�ac��ec�_\�\� \��af�\a�f�]�b�c\a[��� ]���[\�]�i�a]�b�h[]�\���h[��[ga�fr�� qY� s���� ��a\��c[�\ a����[��[]��\� ��\g[�p#Y�hae\�]��k��#Y� Z[b��]�i�a]�b��af�\a�f�h[]��\�_�$��\ a]�$�g �jg d�$� �b�̂�a�ba�f���\] �c��k��nY� X[\a[�� c\à \�b��af�\a�fk��tY� uaf�\a�f� __][̀�b�̂d� �v_�ca ��w���x�]�a\�a��g�ac��\a����[h�[_�] \a[�� ]���_�cahac ��d�ab��\aha�bk��%Y� y��a�������\� \�[_�] \��[�� �#t4�[�]�̂ �a�k��
- Page 87 -



���

��� ���	�
	������
	
�	������������	
�������
�������
�������
���
	�������������������
	��
	�������	��������������������������	����������������������	
�� ��� !"#"$��%&'()*+,-.��/0'�.*1-2132.�,4�*0+.�.5'6*+,-�.0177�-,*�1))78�*,9���� �� :-2+;+2<17�3'.+2'-*+17�7+=0*+-=�*01*�+.�-,*�3';+'>'2�1.�)13*�,4�1�2';'7,)('-*�)71-?�'&6')*�4,3�1�@+-=7'AB1(+78�C'63'1*+,-17�D.'�1.�2'4+-'2�+-�@'6"�E"$"E"������ F+=0*+-=�1..,6+1*'2�>+*0�*'(),3138�<.'.�*01*�01;'�G''-�)'3(+**'2?�)3,;+2'2�*01*�*0'�7+=0*+-=�(''*.�*0'�='-'317�.*1-2132.�,4�*0+.�.5'6*+,-"������ @'1.,-17�7+=0*+-=�*01*�+.�)13*�,4�6<.*,(138�0,7+218�2'6,31*+,-.�1-2�1--<17�6+;+6�';'-*.?�)3,;+2'2�*01*�+*�(''*.�177�*0'�3'H<+3'('-*.�,4�@'6"�!"I"�"J"K$�LMNOPQR"����� �� F+=0*+-=�1..,6+1*'2�>+*0�.+=-�+77<(+-1*+,-�1.�.'*�4,3*0�+-�@'6"�!"I"#"S�TOUV�WNNXYOVQZOMV"������ [<-+6+)175������7+=0*+-=�+-.*177'2�>+*0+-�)<G7+6�3+=0*.A,4A>18�,3�,-�/,>-A,>-'2�)3,)'3*8�4,3�*0'�G'-'4+*�,4�)<G7+6�0'17*0?�.14'*8?�1-2�>'7413'"����� !"#"#��B+-17�:-.)'6*+,-��S'4,3'�6'3*+4+61*'.�,4�,66<)1-68�13'�3'7'1.'2?�*0'�,>-'3\G<+72'3�(<.*�.<))78�*0'�/,>-�>+*0�1�4+-17�7'**'3�,4�6'3*+4+61*+,-�43,(�*0'�7+=0*+-=�'-=+-''3?�H<17+4+'2�7+=0*+-=�)3,4'..+,-17�]@'6"�!"#"K"̂_?�,3�7+=0*+-=�(1-<416*<3'3�;'3+48+-=�*01*�177�.+*'�7+=0*+-=�+.�+-.*177'2�166,32+-=�*,�/,>-�.*1-2132.?�*0'�1))3,;'2�)71-.?�1-2�1-8�1))7+61G7'�6,-2+*+,-."�/0'�6'3*+4+61*+,-�(<.*�+-67<2'�1�3'),3*�+-2+61*+-=�*01*�177�.+*'�1-2�'&*'3+,3�(,<-*'2�G<+72+-=�7+=0*+-=�>1.�+-.)'6*'2�1-2�*0'�7+=0*�7';'7.�('1.<3'2�1-2�3'6,32'2�]+-67<2+-=�.)+77,;'3�7+=0*+-=_"�J-8�+33'=<713+*+'.�,3�2';+1*+,-.�43,(�*0'�1))3,;'2�.+*'�)71-?�/,>-�.*1-2132.?�,3�1))7+61G7'�6,-2+*+,-.�(<.*�G'�),+-*'2�,<*�+-�*0'�3'),3*"����  ̀� a��b
���
	��c��
	
�
�	��� d����	��
���
���5�
���e�d	��������
���
���
	����	��������
����������
���������������
���
	�������
�������
�����������������
����
������������������
�	 ����f��g�
���e�h����	��i���
����
i����������	����
�����
	�����j����������������������
k�	�����	��
	��������
����
����
�	��������
	��	������
�	���
�	���������
i���� �h����
i�������
����������
���
���
���
�	�����g�
�����
���������������������	���
��� ��flme�d��
i����������
�
���
�	������������������
�
������g�
����nf�����
����nl���	��������nm� ��h���o��	���e������	
��������������i����
	������j��	�
�������
��������
�����	���������� �p	��nq������o��	����
������
����
	�	������������������	�����	��	��nq���j�������������������������������������������
���	�������	��nq������ ��
- Page 88 -



���

�����	�
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���	����� �!"#�$�!%�&'!�(�)'*!#��'&�'+$"#(,�!(-"($"' �."/�/�0,"�1$234�'&$� �#(,,�-�(�05*,52�'!�0$*5�2/�67(%+,�)�" #,*-��" #( -�)#� $4�&,*'!�)#� $8���9�������������������:;<=>������8�������?9����������������:
@A>������8����?�����������9���������������:
B=>����������������������
���������
������	�
���������������8������8���������������������������?�������������������������������������������
B=	�
����B��������=�������
����@��������	�C����������������������������������������������8�������������������8������8��������������8��D�����?8��������?����8��������������������������������8�������������������������������������������
����E�������	�
����������������������������������������������������������������
������	�06,�#$!"#2�'!�0%( 9%(-�2�'!�0(!$"&"#"(,2�,"�1$" �/��F���0,"�1$" ���G*"+%� $2/��
�������BH�������	�BH���������������������������������������������������������������������8�����������������������������8�����:�>8����������:�>8��������:�>8������8������8�����:��>8�����������������������8������������?�����8����������������������������������������������@������������A?���	�C���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������?��������������?�������������������������������������A���������	�I����������������������������������������������������������8�����������������������������������������8������8�������������������������H�������8������������������8��������������������������������������AD�����?	�E�����������������������������D�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������AD�����?�������������������������������������������?������������?�������������������J����������������?����������D����E����A?���	�C����������������������������������������?���������������������������������������I�����	�K������������������������8������������������������������������������������L����������������A�������M�� NOPQP�RSPTUSPTVQ�QORWW�TXV�RYYWZ�VX�Y[X\P]VQ�̂X[�_Ò]O�RT�RYYẀ]RV̀XT�̂X[�UPaPWXYSPTV�RYY[XaRW�ORQ�bPPT�QcbS̀VVPU�bP̂X[P�VOP�P̂̂P]V̀aP�URVP�X̂�VÒQ�X[ÙTRT]Pd���
- Page 89 -



���

�����	
���� ������������������������������������������������� ��!�����"���������!#���$���%�&��'��#������$���������� (����(���������&$����%���' ����������������&&���'������&$�����)�&�����������#&��&�����&&�� ��������' $�(!���&�$������������#(��&������(��%�&���&��'����&��������������'!�!����#���#���&��&�������&�������&�����&������������������#&��'����&����������*���������	
�+�� ,������������&����(���&��'����������&�������'�������������&�������������������� ���(�����*�-'��� �&������$�(������(�$�&!���%�&���$����!&�����(��%�&�����'����&�����������&����������.!�������%����$�&!�����.!���������&������((� ���� ����&!���&������$�(������(�$�&!���%�&���$����!&�����(��%�&����&����.!���������������#��������'���������������&�����������#���%����������''����%�*�������	
�/�����������������&���������''����%����������&���� ��'�0��!�� �1213*��� -�����!����� �4�!�������#����55555555555555555555555555555555��6��������� �4�!�������#����555555555555555555555555555555555��� ,���&�7� � � � � 89:�8;�,�<=��� 55555555555555555555555555555�� 55555555555555555555555555555555�,�����4���#��$�4�4$�:4444� 0��>!�&�?*�@�����������4���A� �� ����� ,((��%���,&���;��#7��� 5555555555555555555555555555555�B�!����B*�C��������,������ �
- Page 90 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: NEW BUSINESS 

 Meeting Date: October 24, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Katie Schwing, Senior Planner – Long Range Transit 

Department(s): Planning 

Requested Motion 

Possible motion to approve the draft GoApex Bus Stop Improvement Policy. 

 

Approval Recommended? 

Planning staff recommend adoption of the draft Policy. 

The Transit Advisory Committee (TAC) considered the draft Policy at their October 11, 2023 meeting and 

unanimously recommended approval.  

 

Item Details 

This Policy would provide guidance on the qualification and prioritization of bus stops for improvements 

using Town funds. Please see Attachment 1.  

The Policy defines Standard and Enhanced bus stop improvements. All GoApex bus stops would qualify for 

Standard bus stop improvements, which are listed as a GoApex bus stop sign, concrete or asphalt landing 

pad and amenity pad, adequate lighting, bench, and information boxes with route map and schedule. The 

Policy prioritizes bringing bus stops to a Standard level. 

Bus stops would also undergo a review process to qualify and be prioritized for Enhanced bus stop 

improvements, which are listed as a covered shelter with seating, and bicycle racks. The Policy lists the 

qualification criteria and the considerations for prioritization.  

Other types of improvements are listed as being warranted on a case-by-case basis. Further, the Policy 

allows for deviations based on certain circumstances.  

The development of such a policy is considered a best practice for transit providers and was a factor in 

receiving a Wake Transit program funding match for bus stop improvements earlier this year. If approved, 

staff plan to complete the qualification and prioritization process and move forward with installation of 

initial improvements. It is anticipated that further improvements would be installed over time. 

 

- Page 91 -



Attachments 

 NB1-A1: Draft GoApex Bus Stop Improvement Policy  

 NB1-A2: Transit Advisory Committee Report to Town Council - GoApex Bus Stop Improvement 
Policy 

 

- Page 92 -



Page 1 of 2 
 

Draft GoApex Bus Stop Improvement Policy 
version 10/4/2023 

It shall be the policy of the Town of Apex to seek to increase the safety and convenience of GoApex bus 
stops for customers. Specifically, this policy is intended to inform the qualification and prioritization of 
bus stops for improvements using Town funds.  

This policy shall apply to all bus stops serving GoApex fixed route transit services, such as GoApex Route 
1. Stops served by other providers, such as GoTriangle or GoCary, shall be considered for improvements 
on a case-by-case basis in coordination with their providing agencies. Mobility hubs and stops serving 
other types of transit services are outside of the scope of this policy.  

Deviations 
Deviation from the priority order that results from application of this policy is allowable in certain 
circumstances, such as: 

• To accelerate improvements by leveraging grants or other funds. 
• To delay improvements where a programmed project (e.g. roadway improvement) may be 

expanded to address the need. 
• In consideration of long-term plans affecting the area. 
• Due to technical infeasibility. 

Bus Stop Descriptions 
GoApex bus stops should meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), the Public 
Right-of-Way Accessibility Guidelines (PROWAG), and follow the Apex bus stop standard engineering 
specifications available at: https://www.apexnc.org/197/Engineering-Specifications. Premium materials 
may be considered on a case-by-case basis.  

Standard Bus Stop 
Standard bus stops include: 

• GoApex bus stop sign 
• Concrete or asphalt landing pad and amenity pad  
• Adequate lighting 
• Bench 
• Information boxes with route map and schedule 

Enhanced Bus Stop 
Enhanced bus stops may include: 

• Covered shelter with seating 
• Bicycle racks 

Other Types of Bus Stop Improvements 
Other types of bus stop improvements may be warranted on a case-by-case basis. These include several 
categories: 

- Page 93 -

https://www.apexnc.org/197/Engineering-Specifications


Page 2 of 2 
 

• Trash receptacles. 
• Bicycle and pedestrian accessibility infrastructure. 
• Enhanced information and connectivity. 
• Infrastructure to improve bus reliability, address point-level traffic issues, or alleviate stop area 

constraints. Infrastructure improvements that affect the public travel lane should be considered 
in coordination with the Town’s Transportation, Infrastructure, and Development Department 
and in consideration of the Town’s Transportation Plan. 

• Public art - Public art should be placed in coordination with the Town’s Transit Advisory 
Committee and Public Art Committee, and in consideration of safety, visibility, and compatibility 
with the surrounding area. 

• Alternative designs - In certain cases, different stop or improvement designs shall be considered 
where the improvements have been offered as a condition of development or as part of a Town 
project. Such designs shall be vetted through the development review process and reviewed by 
the Transit Advisory Committee prior to installation approval. Additionally, they shall meet or 
exceed the standard bus stop improvements. 

• Landscaping and enhanced public spaces. 

Prioritization 
Qualification Criteria 
The following criteria will be considered in the prioritization of active bus stops for improvements: 
ridership, nearby land uses, stop function, presence of transit-reliant populations, presence of 
historically underserved populations, site context, and community requests.  

Prioritization Process 
Prioritization is the process of setting out an order for future installation of improvements to ensure the 
most benefit to the community in light of limited funding availability. The highest priority is bringing all 
active GoApex bus stops up to the Standard Bus Stop level of improvements. Installation of Enhanced 
Bus Stop features is subject to qualification and prioritization. A process shall be conducted annually to 
prioritize stops for improvements based on their qualification criteria and installation feasibility. Staff 
shall develop and maintain a technical process for assigning points for qualification factors and 
prioritizing stops for improvements and shall make the results available to the public.  

 

 

- Page 94 -



- Page 95 -



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 
 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: NEW BUSINESS 

 Meeting Date: October 24, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Councilmember Mahaffey 

Department(s): Governing Body  

Requested Motion 

Possible motion to adopt an Ordinance Amendment amending Chapter 5 - Section 5-9 – State Building Code, 

Fire Code.  

Approval Recommended? 

Yes 

Item Details 

This is the first step in the approval process for changing the Fire Code that applies to Apex. The North 

Carolina Building Code Council and/or Residential Building Code Council (new) will have to approve of the 

change before fire sprinkler systems can be required in Apex. It is anticipated that review and approval of 

the proposed ordinance will take several months. The Building Code Council meets quarterly and the next 

meeting is scheduled for Monday, December 11, 2023.  

 

 

Attachments 

• NB2-A1: Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 5 - Article 1 - Section 5 - Automatic Fire Sprinkler System  
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-1024-__ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 5-9 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 
THE TOWN OF APEX 

WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statutes (“NCGS”) § 143-138 provides that the fire 
prevention code provisions of the North Carolina State Building Code: Fire Prevention Code are 
considered the minimum standards necessary to preserve and protect health and safety, and that 
municipalities and counties may submit more stringent provisions for approval by the North 
Carolina Building Code Council; 

WHEREAS, NCGS § 143-138 further provides that fire prevention standards exceeding the state 
minimum standards require official approval from the Building Code Council and that they 
provide adequate minimum standards to preserve and protect health and safety; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Apex finds it in the best interest of its citizens to 
provide fire prevention standards that exceed the standards mandated by the State of North 
Carolina. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council of the Town of Apex as 
follows: 

Section 1.  Section 5-9 of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Apex is hereby 
amended to read as follows, with additions shown as bold, underlined text and deletions as 
struck through text: 

Sec. 5-9. – State building code, fire code. 

(a) The North Carolina State Building Code, Fire Code, as adopted by the North 
Carolina Building Code Council as amended from time to time, is hereby 
incorporated by reference into this Code as if fully set forth herein, and 
Appendices B, C, D, E, F, G, and H are specifically adopted and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

(b) Notwithstanding the exception to applicability for occupancy of one- and 
two-family dwellings in Section 102.13 of the North Carolina State 
Building Code: Fire Prevention Code, Section 903.2.8 and Section 
903.2.8.1 of the North Carolina State Building Code: Fire Prevention 
Code, as amended, shall be amended and apply within the Town of Apex, 
as follows: 

903.2.8 Group R. An automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance 
with Section 903.3 shall be provided throughout all buildings with a 
Group R fire area. 



Exceptions: 

1. An automatic sprinkler system is not required in new adult and 
child day care facilities located in existing Group R-3 and R-4 
occupancies. 

2. An automatic sprinkler system is not required in temporary 
overflow shelters. 

3. An automatic sprinkler system is not required in camping units 
located within a campground where all of the following conditions 
exist. 
3.1 The camping unit is limited to one story in height. 
3.2 The camping unit is less than 400 square feet (37 m2) in area. 
3.3 The camping unit does not have a kitchen. 

4. An automatic sprinkler system is not required in an open air camp 
cabin that complies with the following: 
4.1 The open air camp cabin shall have at least two remote 

unimpeded exits.  Lighted exit signs shall not be required. 
4.2 The open air camp cabin shall not be required to have 

plumbing or electrical systems, but if the cabin has these 
systems, then the provisions of the code otherwise applicable to 
those systems shall apply. 

4.3 Smoke detectors and portable fire extinguishers shall be 
installed as required by other sections of this code. 

5. Temporary sleeping units for disaster relief workers as allowed by 
Section 321.4.5. 

903.2.8.1 Group R-3. 

An automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 
903.3.1.3 shall be required in Group R-3 occupancies and townhouses. 

 Section 2.  It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained that the 
provisions of this ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances and the 
sections of this ordinance may be renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 Section 3.  Severability, Conflict of Laws.  If this ordinance or application thereof to 
any person or circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or 
applications of the ordinance which can be given separate effect and to the end the provisions of 
this ordinance are declared to be severable.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with 
this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Section 4.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be effective six months after approval 
by the North Carolina Building Code Council. 



Introduced by Council Member: _____________________________________ 

 Seconded by Council Member:   _____________________________________ 

 This the ____ day of ____________, 2023. 

 

Attest:          TOWN OF APEX, NORTH CAROLINA 

 
____________________________      __________________________________ 
Allen Coleman, CMC, NCCCC      Jacques K. Gilbert        
Town Clerk         Mayor 
 
Approved As To Form: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Laurie L. Hohe  
Town Attorney 



 | Agenda Item | cover sheet 

 for consideration by the Apex Town Council 

 

 Item Type: CLOSED SESSION 

 Meeting Date: October 24, 2023 

Item Details 

Presenter(s): Demetria John, Assistant Town Manager 

Steve Adams, Real Estate/Utilities Acquisition Specialist  

Department(s): Town Manager’s Office  

Transportation and Infrastructure Development  

Requested Motion 

Possible motion to enter into closed session pursuant to NCGS § 143-318.11(a)(5) to discuss matters 

related to acquisition of real property. 

Approval Recommended? 

N/A 

Item Details 

NCGS § 143-318.11(a)(5)  
 

“To establish, or to instruct the public body's staff or negotiating agents concerning the position to be taken 

by or on behalf of the public body in negotiating (i) the price and other material terms of a contract or 

proposed contract for the acquisition of real property by purchase, option, exchange, or lease; or (ii) the 

amount of compensation and other material terms of an employment contract or proposed employment 

contract.” 

 

Attachments 

 N/A 

 

- Page 97 -


	Town of Apex  
Regular Town Council Meeting  
October 24, 2023 
AGENDA
	CN1 Annexation No. 770 – Legacy Station – 26.63 acres
	CN1 - Coversheet - Annexation No. 770 – Legacy Station – 26.63 acres
	CN1-A1: Resolution Directing the Town Clerk to Investigate Petitiono Certificate of Sufficiency by the Town Clerko Resolution Setting Date of Public Hearing
	CN1-A2: Legal Description – Satellite Annexation No. 770
	CN1-A3: Aerial Map – Satellite Annexation No. 770
	CN1-A4: Plat Map – Satellite Annexation No. 770
	CN1-A5: Annexation Petition – Satellite Annexation No. 770

	CN2 Council Meeting Minutes – October 10, 2023
	CN2 - Coversheet - Council Meeting Minutes – October 10, 2023
	CN2-A1: DRAFT Minutes – October 10, 2023 – Regular Town Council Meeting Minutes

	CN3 Fee Schedule Amendments – Fiscal Year 2023-2024
	CN3 - Coversheet - Fee Schedule Amendments – Fiscal Year 2023-2024
	CN3-A1: Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Amended Fee Schedule

	CN4 Ordinance Amendment – Chapter 15 Parks and Recreation, Section 15-6 – Pleasant ParkHours of Operation
	CN4 - Coversheet - Ordinance Amendment – Chapter 15 Parks and Recreation, Section 15-6 – Pleasant ParkHours of Operation
	CN4-A1: Ordinance - Chapter 15 Parks and Recreation, Section 15-6 - Pleasant Park Hours ofOperation

	PR1 Proclamation – American Indian Heritage Month – November 2023
	PR2 Proclamation – Italian American Heritage Month – October 2023
	PH1	Transit Plan Amendment - Future GoApex Route 1
	PH1 - Coversheet - Transit Plan Amendment - Future GoApex Route 1
	PH1-A1: Staff Report - Transit Plan Amendment - Future GoApex Route 1
	PH1-A2: Planning Board Report to Town Council - Transit Plan Amendment - Future GoApex Route 1
	PH1-A3: Transit Advisory Committee Report to Town Council - Transit Plan Amendment - Future GoApex Route 1

	PH2	Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments - October 2023
	PH2 - Coversheet - Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments - October 2023
	PH2-A1: Staff Report - Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments - October 2023
	PH2-A2: Planning Board Report to Town Council - Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments - October 2023
	PH2-A3: Public Notice - Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments - October 2023
	PH2-A4: Ordinance - Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Amendments - October 2023

	NB1	GoApex Bus Stop Improvement Policy
	NB1 - Coversheet - GoApex Bus Stop Improvement Policy
	NB1-A1: Draft GoApex Bus Stop Improvement Policy
	NB1-A2: Transit Advisory Committee Report to Town Council - GoApex Bus Stop Improvement Policy

	NB2 Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 5 - Article 1 - Section 5 - Automatic Fire SprinklerSystem Requirements
	NB2 - Coversheet - Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 5 - Article 1 - Section 5 - Automatic Fire SprinklerSystem Requirements
	NB2-A1: Ordinance Amendment - Chapter 5 - Article 1 - Section 5 - Automatic Fire Sprinkler System

	CS1 - Closed Session Pursuant to NCGS143-318-11(a)(5). 



